Canada Revenue Agency and Tax Administration: Re-envisioning Tax and Benefit Administration in the Age of Digitalization

Marina Flaim, Undergraduate Student, Telfer School of Management, University of Ottawa

Gillian Petit, Ph.D. Candidate, Department of Economics, University of Calgary

Lindsay M. Tedds (PI), Associate Professor, Department of Economics, and Scientific Director, Fiscal and Economic Policy, School of Public Policy, University of Calgary^{*}

Knowledge Synthesis Grant Final Report Prepared for the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada and the Government of Canada's Future Skills Centre

^{*} Corresponding author: Lindsay M. Tedds, Associate Professor, Department of Economics, and Scientific Director, Fiscal and Economic Policy, School of Public Policy, University of Calgary, <u>lindsay.tedds1@ucalgary.ca</u>. All inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn in this paper are those of the authors, and do not reflect the opinions or policies the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, the Government of Canada's Future Skills Centre, or the Canada Revenue Agency.

Canada Revenue Agency and Tax Administration: Re-envisioning Tax and Benefit Administration in the Age of Digitalization is co-funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council and the Government of Canada's Future Skills program, Agence du revenue du Canada at administration fiscal: repenser l'administration des impôt et des prestations à l'ère de la numérisation est cofinancé par le Conseil de recherces en sciences humaines et le programme Compétences futures due Gouvernement du Canada.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	iii
Background: The Issue	iii
Objectives	iii
Posults	
Key messages	11
Methodology	ii
Canada Revenue Agency and Tax Administration: Re-envisioning Tax and	1
Benefit Administration in the Age of Digitalization	1
Objectives	1
Methods	4
Kesuits	
Self_Assessment	5 6
Administrative Assessment and Pre-filled Tax Forms	
Annual Tax Reporting	9
Real-time Third-party Reporting	9
The Role Digitalization Can Play in Modernizing Tax Administration	9
Estonia	10
Government as a Platform (GaaP) Concept	
X-Road	
Digital Identification	14 16
Provincial Digital ID. The DC Services Cald Denmark's NemID	10
The UK Digital ID Card: A Case Study in Failure	
Estonia's e-Residency Program	
The Future of Digital ID in Čanada	20
Blockchain and the New Internet	21
PIPEDA Compliance and Blockchain	23
Blockchain in Canada	25
Implications	27
Digital Access and the Digital Divide	27
Indigenous Peoples and Canadians living in Rural Areas	27
Low-Income Families	
People with Disabilities	
Seniors	
New Canadians	29 30
Economic Implications	
Conclusion	
Knowledge Mobilization Activities	
Bibliography	35

Executive Summary

Background: The Issue

Canada's tax administration system has remained fundamentally unchanged since it was established more than 100 years ago. This is despite the fact that tax policy has evolved significantly over the same period of time. In particular, when the Canadian tax system was first established in 1918, it was solely used to collect tax revenues, but in recent decades it has been increasingly used to achieve various social objectives. In other words, the tax system is not just used as a tax collection system, but it is also used to deliver a myriad of income benefits.

Two key features of the current tax system impede the delivery of income benefits: selfassessment and annual filing. Self-assessment requires individuals to proactively complete a tax return in order to be assessed for income benefit while annual filing means that income benefits are not responsive to in-year shocks. COVID-19 laid bare the marked incapability of Canada's income benefit system to respond adequately in a time of crises due to these features. The Government struggled to verify income lost in real time and there existed no super database of Canadians that could be used to quickly issue support. In one word, the tax administration system is archaic.

Objectives

The objective of this project is to obtain information regarding the tax administrative system's use of self-assessment and annual filing and consider how advances in digitization could be used to address barriers to access and responsiveness and improve the tax system. We are particularly interested in how other countries have harnessed such technological advances and how they could be used to revolutionize not only day-to-day tax and benefit administration, but also the provision of emergency income support during times of crisis.

Results

Canada's tax system is unusual throughout the world in that it is not used just to raise revenue, but it is also used to deliver an important suite of income support benefits that are designed to achieve social objectives. In addition, a further set of benefits are reliant on information assessed by the tax system. Because of this dual purpose, tax administration matters a great deal because the tax system is the only way to gain access to a suite of income benefits and it matters if the income support they receive is responsive to sudden and dramatic income shocks.

The current self-assessment approach to tax administration used in Canada means that individuals who do not initiate tax filing and submit their package for assessment are excluded from being assessed for and receiving if eligible any benefits delivered through the tax system or benefits delivered outside the tax system that require tax filing to determine eligibility. Evidence from Canada shows that about 12 per cent of working-age Canadian do not file a tax return and this is heavily concentrated in individuals in low income. In order to be a more effective benefit administrator, the tax authority needs to ensure that everyone who is entitled to benefits receives those benefits. This can be achieved by rolling out administrative assessment, where the tax authority produces pre-filled tax forms, a process aided by digitization.

Equally the current annual filing horizon means that benefits delivered through the tax system are not responsive to sudden and large income shocks, such as what occurred in the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. Instead, eligibility for income benefits is assessed using the prior tax year's information and it is not reassessed until the subsequent tax year. To be more effective as a delivery vehicle for social benefits, the CRA also needs to be more responsive to real-time fluctuations in income, which can be supported through e-payroll and other digitization measures.

Key messages

Digitization has significant potential to aid with a reimagination of the existing tax administration systems for day-to-day tax and benefit administration, as well as mechanisms for supplying emergency income support in a crisis. Digitalization will provide a more transparent and reliable government that can adapt to labour market shifts, technological innovation, and unexpected events just as the one we saw at the beginning of 2020 with the COVID-19 pandemic. It provides the opportunity to create synchronicity with government and its citizens to provide better quality of services with digital technologies. Digitization of the tax system would streamline process for both tax filers and administrators, kick start reimagination of day-to-day tax and benefit administration, and provide mechanisms to supply emergency income support.

Methodology

The approach used for this Knowledge Synthesis was a literature review consisting of national and international literature. The review consisted of scholarly articles and government documents on the tax and benefit administration history as well as the present structure, functionality, and processes within the system from both Canada as well as countries within Europe that have been particularly innovative and successful in the digitization of their tax and benefit systems. This qualitative literary analysis was completed in interconnected stages to understand and highlight policy implications towards the digitalization of the Canadian tax and benefit administration system.

Canada Revenue Agency and Tax Administration: Re-envisioning Tax and Benefit Administration in the Age of Digitalization

Objectives

Canada's income tax system dates back to 1917 when personal and corporate income taxes were introduced as part of the Income War Tax Act to help finance the World War I. While it was intended to be a temporary, two-year, measure, it instead became a permanent feature of Canada's legislative framework, known since 1948 as the Income Tax Act. Since its enactment the Income Tax Act has undergone significant revision, growing from ten pages in 1917 to now more than 3,330 pages, and the tax administrator, currently known as the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA), has had their mandate expanded to also include the delivery of various income benefits. That is, the tax system is no longer just used to raise revenue; it is also an important instrument for achieving various social objectives. As a result, CRA also helps facilitate the delivery of various social and economic benefit programs provided by the tax system, acting as an intermediary between persons and government (Government of Canada 2020a). This includes such important income support programs as the Canada Child Benefit (CCB), the GST/HST credit, the Climate Action Initiative (CAI), the Canada Worker Benefit (CWB), among others.

Despite this increasing complexity in the tax system and the expansion to a dual mandate collecting taxes and delivering benefits, Canada's tax administration system has remained fundamentally unchanged since it was established in 1917. And the problems inherent in this archaic tax administration system regarding benefit administration were laid bare during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 showed the lack of sophistication and marked incapability of income benefits delivered through the tax system to respond adequately in a time of real crisis. Since tax filing only occurs once a year, a system established more than 100 years ago based on the basis of the agrarian calendar, Canada's tax benefit system could not respond to the dramatic in-year income shocks which occurred during COVID-19, especially as the majority of first-wave shocks hit between March and June 2020. As a result, Canada was forced to instead provide pandemic support through a less-than-ideal Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB) system administered by Service Canada, which required recipients to self-identify to receive support. In essence, Canada's tax system proved too clunky and unresponsive to deliver emergency pandemic income support.

In order to be a more effective benefit administrator, the CRA needs to ensure that everyone who is entitled to benefits receives those benefits. As detailed in Petit et al. (2021b), the Minister of National Revenue's 2019 Mandate Letter agrees with this sentiment, stating that modernizing the CRA includes proactively contacting Canadians who are entitled to but are not receiving tax benefits (Office of the Prime Minister 2019). Regardless of this recognition, the CRA appears to

limit their service focus to those who already interact with the agency. In particular, their mandate states the following: "contribute to the economic and social-well-being of Canadians by making sure that...clients receive the benefits for which they are eligible" (Canada Revenue Agency 2020a). The term "clients" is not defined, but, from the context, it appears that "client" refers to persons and entities that file tax returns. That is, the CRA ensures persons who interact with them receive the benefits for which they apply and are eligible or for which there is automatic assessment (dependent on the benefit). However, for non-filers who do not interact with the CRA, there appears to be no such assurance.

Taking this into account there are two main features of Canada's tax administration system that impede the CRA's mandate to deliver income benefits. First, it relies on what is called self-assessment, which means the onus is on the individual tax filer to provide complete and accurate information to the government on the income taxes they owe. This process of self-assessment certainly has some advantages; however, as a benefit administration tool, this approach is problematic because the onus to file taxes is on the individual in order to claim or be assessed for income benefits. In Canada, there is no universal requirement to file taxes. In particular, while there are some rules governing who is required to file (Canada Revenue Agency 2004), the most important one is that only those individuals with a balance owing are legally required to file a tax form.

If the individual has no taxes owing, either because their income is at or below the basic personal exemption or because sufficient (or more than sufficient) tax was withheld by their employer and remitted to CRA, they are either not obliged to submit a tax return (if no tax is payable) or the failure to file a return would not likely give rise to any financial penalty, even if completing and submitting one would provide a refund. Individuals who do not file tax returns are excluded from being assessed for (and receiving if eligible) any CRA-delivered benefits associated with that tax year. While the CRA has some measures in place to identify and contact individuals who may lose benefits because they have not filed a return, if an individual has not been a client, i.e., has not filed a tax return either recently or ever, they are unlikely to be included in this initiative. An implication of there being no universal requirement to file taxes is that there is no super-database of all Canadians, their bank accounts, and addresses is maintained, which if it did exist could be used to issue quick payments in times of crisis, whether individual or societal.

Another feature of the self-assessment process is the additional administrative assessment that occurs once the information is provided to the tax authority. That is, once the self-assessment is provided to CRA, CRA uses third-party information reported separately to CRA and matching techniques to verify (or administratively assess) the information provided by the tax filer. Third-party reporting, or matching, is a tax policy concept according to which a third party (i.e., neither the individual nor the tax authority) provides an impartial verification of income. For example, all employers are required to report to the tax authority on a T4 information slip the wage income of their employees. While not all income is subject to such reporting, a significant amount is. This means that the CRA knows a fair amount about much, if not all, of the income earned by a

significant number of tax payers.

If CRA already has all this information available, it begs the questions as to why the onus to complete tax returns does not simply shift from the individual to the tax authority ensuring that anyone that has been issued any form a tax slip is also automatically assessed for income benefits? One reason is that in Canada not all income—notably, self-employment income—is subject to verification, meaning that such a process fails to capture a growing segment of the Canadian workforce: those employed in precarious, non-standard, and contract work. This raises concerns, not only about increased tax non-compliance, but also about a growing burden on tax filers to keep proper records and learn complex tax information. The lack of third-party reporting for self-employment income is a key reason why the government struggled to verify income lost by those with self-employment earnings, particularly those in precarious and gig work, during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The second feature of the tax administration system that impedes benefit delivery is the fact that the aforementioned self-assessment process only happens once a year, at 'tax time', when individuals must file a self-assessed tax return for the previous calendar year by April 30. The administrative assessment process that occurs after an individual submits their tax form is based on impartial verification of income provided by third parties, as discussed above. This third-party information is only reported once a year, as well, aligned with 'tax time.' For example, all employers are required to report to the tax authority on a T4 information slip the wage income of their employees, on or before the last day of February of the year following that to which the income information applies.

To be more effective as a delivery vehicle for social benefits, the tax administration system needs to be more responsive to real-time fluctuations in income. Currently, there is potentially a large time lag between when persons become eligible for (and need) benefits and when they receive the benefits through the tax system. For example, consider a person with a job in an initial year (say, 2017) with pay that is too high to qualify for the Canada Workers Benefit (CWB). If this person lost that job in February of 2018, replacing it with a lower-paid job that does qualify for the CWB, they will not receive those benefits until at least 13 months later, at their next tax filing (in the spring of 2019). This delay may drive them deeper into a financial insecurity. For example, this person may resort to other actions that provide timely cash assistance, such as taking out pay-day loans, with long-term ramifications.

Improving the tax system to address these shortcomings has the potential to both weaken the day-to-day administrative barriers Canadians face in navigating the tax system, as well as better respond to both isolated and widespread disruptions, such as those brought on by a pandemic. Canada's tax system needs to be made more responsive to income shocks, it must address the changing nature of work, and to be streamlined in an administrative sense, for both tax filers and tax administrators. Put simply, the tax system in Canada needs to be modernized. Within this context, digitization and the digital economy have significant potential to factor heavily in a reimagination of systems for day-to-day tax and benefit administration, as well as mechanisms

for supplying emergency income support in a crisis. However, it remains an open question which technologies and approaches are optimal, and in relation to what objectives and barriers.

Methods

The approach used for this Knowledge Synthesis was a detailed review of the existing literature both nationally and internationally. In this context, literature refers to not only scholarly, peer-reviewed literature, but also government documents, and web-based material. The literature review was conducted in four phases. In the first phase, we reviewed scholarly articles and grey literature on the Canadian tax system a as well as the present structure, functionality, and processes within the system. This allowed us to determine areas that would benefit from digitalization in order to reduce the current inefficiencies of tax and benefit delivery in the Canadian tax system. Digitalization was determined a potential tool after a literary review of articles focusing on the effects of COVID-19, tax filing rates, income and benefit receipt, and the growing number of citizens engaged in non-traditional work, particularly the emerging gig economy. This evidence laid clear two key inefficiencies in the present tax system that could be rectified by employing digital technologies. These were self-assessment and annual reporting.

In phase two we completed an international literary review of countries that have been particularly innovative and successful in the digitalization of their tax system and benefit administration as well as the economy as a whole. A qualitative context analysis of work published predominately since 2000, consisting of academic articles, government documents, and conference proceedings were analyzed. Overall, we found that European countries were more likely to have incorporated digitalization into their policy systems then in any other part of the world. Aggregating case studies from Estonia, Ireland, Finland, Denmark, and the United Kingdom brought forth the concept of 'Government as a Platform'. In opposition to the siloed structure that currently exists in Canada's government, it was discovered that, to varying degrees, these countries employ an interoperable government system that centralizes citizens' personal data or facilitates communication and data exchange between separate systems. This international review highlighted the timelines of key digitalization infrastructure solutions as well as services provided by the system, best practices, and made notice of past failures. The review provided a guide to digitizing a countries tax system to receive the intended benefits,

The third phase of the literature review consisted particularly of focusing on various Canadian government documents produced primarily since 2016. These included federal budgets, bills and legislation, particularly the Digital Charter Implementation Act, internal conference proceedings, and reports to federal standing committees regarding digital technologies in the public sector. This literary review provided guidance as to where there is a previous government commitment to digitalization, financial investment, or future digitalization project plans. This phase provided a base for creating policy recommendations grounded on what the Canadian tax and benefit administration system currently needs and in what areas momentum can be

leveraged.

In the fourth, and final, phase we aggregated information on past and ongoing digitalization projects within the Canadian government or in partnership with the public sector. A review was completed on municipal, provincial, and federal initiatives employing digital technologies to provide government services, or enhance the lives of its citizens. These projects were then compared to similar projects that occurred in various jurisdictions across Europe. We also developed a criterion to assess the feasibility of such projects in a Canadian context given the complexity of our government structure. As part of the jurisdictional comparison, we aggregated literature on what differentiates Canada from other countries that rank highly on various OECD world digital government rankings and indexes. We then researched what aspects of digital government transformations. It was determined that Canada will have to address two central aspects of digitalization to realize the full benefits of a digital tax and benefit administration system. These being providing a government-issued secure digital ID and reducing the digital divide.

The methodology for this knowledge synthesis was followed in the phases laid out above; however, it also involved interconnectedness between the phases. The initial literary analysis of phase one and two were initially completed consecutively. Upon completion of the two phases, it was determined that inefficiencies in the current Canadian system were closely linked with digital technologized used in European countries to improve said inefficiencies. Subsequently, phases three and four were conducted concurrently and iteratively. For example, when a federal budget identified policies towards creating a more inclusive Canada and creating strong Indigenous communities by providing connectivity to close the digital divide, we then investigated how other countries have connected their citizens to digital services and what initiatives are already in progress within Canada to close the gap. The interconnected aspects of the phases to our literature review enabled us to better understand and highlight policy implications towards the digitalization of the Canadian tax and benefit administration system. Digitalization in the public sector is a complicated transformation that needs to be made to ease the lives of Canadian citizens when interacting with government. It is important that further research be done into case studies, feasible technological solutions, citizen engagement to make digital transformation of the tax system a reality.

Results

Issues facing the Canadian Tax system

As outlined in the Background section, there are two features of the tax administration system that create barriers to tax filing and benefit administration. In this section, we examine these barriers in more detail and consider how digital innovations could make the tax system more accessible.

Self-Assessment

Self-assessment is a model that places the onus on the individual tax filer to provide complete and accurate information to the government on the income taxes payable on the income earned (Petit et al. 2021a). A taxpayer is required to provide an accurate self-assessment to that tax authority under risk of fines, penalties, and even legal action if the information provided is found to be inaccurate in a way that understates the amount of tax owing. There are several known barriers to the current self-assessment process.

While CRA does provide access to tax forms that can be completed manually, it does not have any proprietary system to allow individuals to complete their taxes online directly. Instead, those wanting to complete their tax filing online must choose from among many third-party products often for a fee. TurboTax is the number one tax software used by Canadian's in 2020, costing between \$79.99 and \$199.99 depending on complexity of the tax return and level of service (TurboTax 2020). In addition, while CRA does provide tax information services, it does not provide tax advice. Instead, individuals needing tax advice to complete their tax forms must seek out paid professional tax preparers. Survey data indicates that 54% of tax filers seek out professional help to complete their taxes (Marotte 2013).

Although companies providing tax software and expert tax advice provide a valuable service to individuals with limited knowledge of tax laws and regulation and to individuals with complicated returns, there are barriers to equitable access to these services. This is largely attributed to cost. Since tax software and expert preparation services are not provided free of charge, only those who can afford these services can obtain this support, making these options unavailable for many low and middle-income households. Thus, some individuals will have to complete the tax forms by hand and without outside guidance regardless of whether the taxpay has correct knowledge of the tax filling g rules and processes.

The self-assessment system, therefore, imposes compliance costs on individuals. According to Vaillancourt (2010), the average cost to individuals to comply with personal income taxes is \$215. And compliance costs increase significantly with complexity. In particular, individuals with income that is not subject to third-party reporting, notably self-employment income, incur compliance costs in excess of \$300. This includes those working in the gig economy who are currently classified as self-employed workers (Hou, Lu, and Schimmele 2019). In 2017, approximately 11% of individuals that filed taxes claimed some form of such income (Canada Revenue Agency 2020b). The reason why compliance costs are higher for such individuals is because, unlike for employees, there is no employer, or other entity, to submit a slip that the individual can consult and check against their records.

Given these compliance costs, it is unsurprising that some individuals choose to not file their taxes, a necessary act in order to be assessed for eligibility for income benefits delivered through the tax system. To what degree is non-filing a policy concern? According to Robson and Schwartz (2020), 10%-12% of Canadians between the ages of 18 and 64 did not file a tax

return, consequently not receiving income support or eligible benefits. They found that individuals whose income was below the poverty line were much less likely to file a tax return (19.6%) and low-income status was strongly correlated to the likelihood to non-filing. This is concerning since these are the groups of individuals most likely to be eligible for income benefits and would preparation need those benefits the most. In fact, they found that individuals lose between \$193 to \$4,238 in income benefits per filing season. In totality, these non-filing rates bring forth the total amount of income benefits lost from not filing amount in to \$1.7 billion (Robson and Schwartz 2020). It is clear that there is a significant amount of income benefits that are being lost by those who need it most.

The largest unclaimed income benefits are in the form of child benefits, impeding the governments progress on addressing child poverty. Receiving child benefits can boost lowincome households' income by up to 50% (Prosper Canada 2018). Li and Neborak (2018) reported that Indigenous families living on reserves in the North are among those struggling to gain access to child benefits because: they are unaware of the benefits, distrust in the Canadian government, or are non-eligible due to inconsistency in filing annual tax returns or filing tax returns at all (McKie 2017). It has been estimated that 40% of eligible First Nations families did not receive the Canada Child Benefit (Prosper Canada 2018). In an effort to reduce this gap CRA partnered with Aboriginal Financial Officers Association (AFOA) and Prosper Canada to develop and encourage participation in community outreach programs targeted at Indigenous Peoples to enable receipt of benefits that they should be receiving but are not (Prosper Canada 2018). Despite these efforts, a concerning gap remains.

Administrative Assessment and Pre-filled Tax Forms

The challenges imposed by compliance costs and non-filing could be alleviated by a simple change to tax administration: shifting the onus on completed tax forms from the individual to the tax authority through the use of pre-filled tax forms. Under such a system, CRA would use all the information it already has on hand to provide pre-filled tax forms on behalf of the individual (Brookes and Dery 2018). These pre-filled tax forms are then sent to the taxpayer who confirms the information or is able to make any necessary changes (Petit et al. 2021a). Pre-filled tax returns simplify the tax filing process and creates greater accessibility for taxpayers that are susceptible to be non-filers.

A number of countries around the world have successfully shifted to administrative assessment in their tax system and employed pre-filled tax forms. These countries include Belgium (Seitani & Westmore, 2020), Ireland (Connolly & Bannister, 2008), Sweden (OECD 2008), Denmark (Østergaard, 2014), and Estonia (Kelmm 2019). In 1988, Denmark was the first country to distribute pre-filled tax forms (OECD 2006). By 2006, Denmark distributed only prefilled forms to its taxpayers with 99.4% in electronic format, and 72% were returned without adjustments (OECD 2008). The ability of Denmark to provide accurate pre-filled forms (Soontreeruntana et al. 2006) that require minimal corrections, display the efficiency of pre-filled tax forms. Sweden reports similar figures related to the provision of pre-filled tax forms as Denmark with a corresponding figure of 60-65% of pre-filled forms were filed with no adjustments (OECD 2008). Satisfaction among individuals with pre-filled forms is quite high and 94% indicate that they would recommend using it to other taxpayers (Erard et al. 2011).

The success of pre-filled tax forms in countries that have adopted it has been attributed to a number of pre-existing factors: a high integrity regarding taxpayer identifiers, a comprehensive system of third-party reporting, a high degree of automation among information suppliers, and a compatible legislative framework including limited non-standard deductions (Ibrahim and Pope 2011). The main reason pre-filled tax forms may not be successful is a lack of trust in the government to put the best interests of citizens first and employ the necessary security requirements with regard to personal data collection and use in the tax system.

Despite the success across European countries, in Canada there have only been unsuccessful attempts at pre-filled personal income tax forms. Quebec introduced a pre-filled income tax pilot program in 2008 for the 2007 tax year (Lindsay M Tedds 2013a). The pre-filled tax forms were distributed to 100,000 seniors mostly above the age of 65 (80%) or to taxpayers with low income, a simplistic tax profile, and who used the paper format for the past three consecutive years (Erard et al. 2011). The pilot program was designed to ease the lives of the of older residents to accommodate the increasing average age in Quebec with the objective that by 2011 all Quebec residents would receive a pre-filled tax form (Erard et al. 2011; Lindsay M. Tedds 2013b).

They were provided the form in March and it was due on April 30th, the deadline for all personal income tax returns (Erard et al. 2011), arguably a short turn aground time. Of the 100,00 taxpayers in the pilot program, 93% received a prefilled tax return but only 30.9% filed said return (Erard et al. 2011), a very low response rate especially when compared to European countries. This is a significantly low filing rate. A survey was completed to understand taxpayers experience with the pre-filled forms. Of the respondents, over 46% prefer the previous form, and over 50% noted that the form arrived too late (Holen 2010). Dissatisfaction with the pre-filled form demonstrated a loyalty to the usual manual form, the short turnaround time from receiving the tax form and the deadline for filing, and the lack of inclusion of information that allowed recipients to establish the amount they owed (Holen 2010; Erard et al. 2011). Due to the disappointing results, the Quebec pilot was discontinued.

It is clear that for a shift to administrative assessment and pre-filled tax forms to be successful, the government would need to first build trust in the system. That may pose a more significant challenge in Canada than in European countries. In Canada, there has been mistrust in the government regarding technology due to a long line of underperforming projects including but not limited to the Phoenix Pay catastrophe (Hubbard and Paquet). In addition, Indigenous, Black, and other racialized groups, along with new immigrants all have a higher likelihood of not placing trust in the Canadian government (Li and Neborak 2018). In addition, Canadians are more likely to have concerns related to the use and storage of personal information by their government. They demand that appropriate safeguards are in put in place to protect against privacy disclosures. Given that the current Canadian Privacy Protection Act (CPPA) does not

cover these aspects sufficiently (Beauvais 2021) this will also pose a barrier to pre-filled forms.

Annual Tax Reporting

Under current tax administration rules in Canada, ones that have been in placed since 1918, is that the self-assessment process previously described is an annual process where, at 'tax time', an individuals must file an income tax form for the previous calendar year by April 30th (Petit et al. 2021a). The annual reporting period begins with third-party entities reporting information on an individual's income to CRA, a process known as third-party reporting. Third-party reporting is a tax policy concept according to which a third party provides an impartial verification of income. Third-parties include, but are not limited to, employers, social assistance providers, or investment entities (Petit et al. 2021a). Third-parties are required to submit this information to CRA by the last day of February of the year following that to which the income applies. This must also appropriately use the various tax slips provided by CRA which depend on the income being reported (e.g., T4 for employment income, T5 for investment income, T5007 for social assistance income)

As mentioned previously, a comprehensive system of third-party reporting is a prerequisite to successful implementation of a tax administration system based on administrative assessment and pre-filled tax forms. There are two main shortcomings with the system of third-party reporting as it exists in Canada. First, while the CRA collects third-party information on a large amount of income from various sources, not all income is subject to third-party reporting which impedes the accuracy of pre-filled forms. Second, the third-part reporting regime only occurs once a year.

Real-time Third-party Reporting

To create a system more conducive of providing pre-filled forms with accurate information that is responsive to income shocks delivering income benefits in real time, third-party reporting should, instead, be completed, at minimum, on a quarterly bases and preferably on a monthly basis, to account for in-year income changes. Regular third-party reporting is also beneficial in ensuring individual information does not become obsolete between tax seasons, as people move, change their names, update their banking information, or pass away (Petit et al. 2021a). Had such a system been in place at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic the tax system would have been better able to provide emergency income support. Instead, the federal government had to roll out an emergency income benefit (CERB) where individuals were required to self-identify, therefore placing the onus on individuals in a time of chaos and confusion. The biggest challenge to increasing reporting frequency is that it increases third-party compliance costs by requiring third-parties to provide up-to date tax income information to CRA more than once a year.

The Role Digitalization Can Play in Modernizing Tax Administration

The closely intertwined nature of the Canadian tax system within benefit administration reinforces the need to modernize the tax system, providing a basis for a digital tax system and

digital government. The Government of Canada is not the only one feeling the pressure of digitalization, but also the public sector and governments around the globe to transform inefficiencies in service delivery, including the ones detailed here regarding tax and benefit administration. Of course, the government is not new to digitalization. The implementation of various degrees of digital technologies and the application of data (Ubaldi, González-Zapata, and Barbieri 2020) have transitioned government process to improve efficiency, reduce costs, and provide more quality interactions with its citizens (Kalja 2002). However, it is important to remember that it is not digitalization per se that improves services delivery. Rather, it is the implementation of the correct technologies and processes that matters. To understand what the correct technologies may be in the context of tax and benefit administration, we turn to various case studies. Many countries in Europe have been digitalization pioneers, especially within government, and particularly with regarding to their tax and benefit administration. Canada can learn from the successes (and failures) of these countries. The most significant case study is that of Estonia.

Estonia

When Estonia gained independence from the Soviet Union in 1991, there was a significant need to build the public's trust as it transitioned into a democracy (Vassil 2016). It had to create its own democratic processes and build its own government and public services (Kalvet 2012). Early in this process, Estonia embraced digitalization and the combination of a strategic digital government infrastructure and innovative nature resulted in the creation of a ground-breaking interoperable digital government infrastructure that provides online government services (Kalvet 2012; Margetts and Naumann 2017). In particular, since its inception, Estonia has rolled out a number of digital government services, including: e-Tax in 2000, X-Road in 2001, mobile parking (m-parking) in 2003, i-Voting in 2005, e-health in 2010, Online Border-Crossing Queue System in 2013, e-Residency in 2014, and creation of the world's first data embassy (Smith, Bisson, and Gowen 2015; Enterprise Estonia 2020).

In total, Estonia's digital government services has created a secure and transparent ecosystem where 99% of governmental services are provided online and over 2,600 can be accessed using X-Road (Enterprise Estonia 2020). Adoption of these services continue to grow as more and more services are provided and as the comfortability of Estonian citizens to use said services expand. For instance, internet voting (i-voting) participation has increased from 5.5% in 2007 to 43.8% in 2019. The number of e-residents as increased from 7,348 in 2010 to 70,000 members in 2020 (Enterprise Estonia 2020). Estonia's e-Tax system completes personal income tax filing in approximately only one minute, leveraging a system of administrative assessment and pre-filled tax forms (Kelmm 2019). This efficiency is felt by the majority of Estonian taxpayers where E-filing rates grew exponentially from 59% in 2004 to 94% in 2011, to recent reports of that number being the entirety of the taxpayer population (Papińska-Kacperek 2006).

This expansive adoption rate of digital services in Estonia is the result of strong communication, national branding, and the use of various technological, legal and organizational

resources (Bharosa, Lips, and Draheim 2020) that enable the Estonian e-government to continue to grow. Two essential features are the leadership provided through the development of its *Digital Agenda for Estonia 2020* strategy and providing citizens with an electronic identification card (eID) which simplifies access to and use of government digital services, including online tax filing (Papińska-Kacperek 2006; Kozak 2018). It is clear that Estonia provides the ideal scenario of a completely digital government for their country, but is it scalable for larger countries with a more complex tax system? Is the Estonian digital government model scalable to Canada and can it provide the necessary flexibility to be adapted to fit with the complexity of the Canadian government? To answer this question, we explain and analyze the following: the Government as a Platform (GaaP) concept, X-Road, eID, and e-Residency Program.

Government as a Platform (GaaP) Concept

The concept of Government as a Platform (GaaP) was conceived by Tim O'Reilly (2011) as a natural progression in the use of digital technology ensuring citizens have the necessary resources and technological skills to access government services wherever and whenever they need, and empower citizens to interact with the government to set forth on the road to innovation that will improve governance (Margetts and Naumann 2017). This concept to rested in the belief that government has a responsibility to treat citizen information as an asset (O'Reilly 2011) and to use that information to make everyday life easier for citizens while redistributing some power away from government and into the hands of its citizens by being a platform. Specifically, Government as a Platform is defined as "government stripped down to the essential" without unnecessary government intervention to build essential infrastructure and create applications that engage developers to continuously enhance the platform as more applications are built (O'Reilly 2011). As more developments are made more utility is put back into the community (the citizen) thus encouraging technically savvy individuals to participate in the development of their "new" government. It is argued that Estonia paved the way for government digitalization with regard the concept of GaaP.

Estonia used the GaaP concept in its digital technologies roll out as a way to best support the resolution of issues at various levels (city, regional, and national) through shared software, data, and services to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of government (Margetts and Naumann 2017). GaaP was used specifically to develop the decentralized interoperability data exchange layer called *X-Road*, its system of digital identification and mobile identification known as eID, and a service layer accessed through various portals (Margetts and Naumann 2017). The Estonia specific GaaP concept for e-government centres around four key values: decentralized, interoperability, open platform, and open-processes (Margetts and Naumann 2017). This is a holistic approach to system communication through an information exchange layer rather than departments working in silos. showing how digitalization can have an immense impact on the way government functions improving quality of service and in turn quality of life.

X-Road

Estonia metaphorically tore down silos that existed between dispersed government databases

and departments in order to streamline processes and facilitate system communication with the development of *X-Road* (Vassil 2016). X-Road is defined as a centrally managed distributed data exchange layer between information systems that provides a standardized and secure way to produce and consume goods (Solutions 2020). X-road, therefore, serves as the fundamental aspect of e-government infrastructure that facilitates the movement of information. In effect X-road has become the backbone of e-Estonia, allowing the nation's public and private sector information systems to coordinate and operate in harmony (Enterprise Estonia 2020). The X-Road Project was launched for three reasons: the various databases in Estonia required an increasing amount of data manipulation; a standardized interface to allow for better organization of communication between users and databases; and, a standardized authentication service removing costs and confusion (Kalja 2002).

X-Road governance underwent a significant change in 2017 in which responsibility of core development was placed on the Nordic Institute for Interoperability solutions (NIIS). The NIIS is a partnership between the Estonian and Finnish government (Robles, Gamalielsson, and Lundell 2019). Since the NIIS took over governance, there are three classes of contributors to X-road. The NIIS Partners (Finland and Estonia) are in first class and are responsible for ensuring the operability of X-road at the national level (Robles, Gamalielsson, and Lundell 2019). In second class are the various NIIS partners which currently are held by Iceland and large organizations that have the capability and capacity to exchange information (Robles, Gamalielsson, and Lundell 2019). In third class are the citizens (Robles, Gamalielsson, and Lundell 2019). Although citizens are placed in the third class, they are essential to ensure a high adoption rate of the technology as well as a high satisfaction rate when interacting with Estonia's GaaP solution.

Structurally, the X-Road architecture consist of Central Services, Security Servers, Information Systems, Time-Stamping Authority (TSAs), and Certification authority (CAs) (Nordic Institute for Interoperability Solutions 2020). The Nordic Institute for Interoperability Solutions (2020) explains each aspect and the specific functions X-Road ecosystem. Central services store the registry of X-Road members along with their Security Servers and the security policy of X-Road including a list of; trusted certification authorities, time-stamping authorities, and configuration parameters. The Security Servers are the entry point to X-Road where they manage two types of keys: authentication keys and signing keys. Authentication keys are for establishing cryptographically secure communication channels with other Security Servers and signing keys are for signing the messages exchanged between clients. The Information system produces and/or consumes services via the X-Road as well as supports producing and consuming services from both private and public organizations. Every message sent using X-Road must go through Time-Stamping Authority(s) to verify the existence of data items at a certain point in time and then logged into the Security Server. The last structural component is Certification Authority(s) which issue certificates to Security Servers using authentication keys and X-Road member organizations using signing keys. The Security Servers then check the validity of the signing and authentication keys and issued authentication and signing certificates as proof of the transaction of message.

It is important to note that the use of keys in the Security Services are a similar key infrastructure as blockchain (Urban and Pineda 2018). In fact, both keys are written using opensource code where developers carry the majority of responsibility for integrating services into X-Road (Margetts and Naumann 2017). Although X-Road uses similar distributed ledger technology as blockchain it is not considered a blockchain. The greatest concerns with an opensource government digital key infrastructure are those surrounding privacy and security safeguards. From the structural nature of the X-Road there is a built-in protection from brute force attacks or "accidental incidents of two users generating the same private key" (Ojo and Adebayo 2017). Despite these natural hurdles for hackerism, additional protective measures need to be implemented to ensure the security and privacy of citizens' personal data. Some of these rigid security measures are authentication, multi-level authorization, high-level processing, and monitoring, encrypted and time stamped data traffic, and the immutable characteristic of DLT technology (Margetts and Naumann 2017).

Since the development of X-Road, the system has been in high demand in other countries and Estonia has been generous with providing other countries with the opportunity to experience and learn from the technology that has placed Estonia as a forerunner in the world of digitalization. For example, Estonia has exported pieces of X-Road or essential services and components to countries of a similar Nordic descent such as Finland and Denmark (Margetts and Naumann 2017). Estonia also exports aspects of their government infrastructure to countries including Palestine, Azerbaijan, and the United Kingdom (Margetts and Naumann 2017). This exportation does not involve a "copy and paste" solution, but rather it is a "middleware layer" acting as a method of connection between existing legacy systems, digitalization, and front-end services (Margetts and Naumann 2017). Due to demand, e-Estonia created a center to guide nations through all the stages of digitalization and offers services that can be tailored to a nation's particular needs (Enterprise Estonia 2020).

There are, however, many differences between Estonia and Canada that will provide barriers as to the feasibility of such a digital government in Canada. In fact, the House of Commons Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics undertook a study on digital government services, focusing on lessons from Estonia. Although they ultimately rejected the Estonian model, it was not because of the benefits the Estonian model offered, but rather the fact that the Estonian model could not be copied and pasted into Canada and because Canadian institutions were simply not ready (House of Commons Canada 2019). This decision refers to scalability of Estonian model in totality and not its parts.

In terms of the overall differences that made the X-Road system challenging to implement in Canada, one main consideration of differences is population size. Estonia is a Nordic European country with a relatively small geography and population size in relation to Canada. The same digital infrastructure that worked for a country with a populations size approximating 1.29 million (Vassil 2016) may not be ideal for a country with a population size around 38.0 million (Statistics Canada 2021b).

Another main consideration is tax history, legislative policy, and data regulations that inhibit digital transformation of the Canadian tax system. Estonia was essentially able to build their digital government from scratch after they gained independence. This meant that data was being collected in the same format making data aggregation and analysis more efficient since there is no need to rectify impartial or broken data, or deal with incompatible information systems. But in Canada, taxpayer data comes in a variety of formats due to systems being layered on top of one another to reflect additions to tax and benefit systems as the economy grew. It is important to remember that data from third-party reporting can arrive in many formats. As a result, there are different data types that CRA must be able to process. These data formats can be broadly categorized as structured and unstructured data.

There are a few key differences between structure and unstructured data that should clarified: structured data is often stored in data warehouses whereas unstructured data is not, structured data is relatively easy to search and analyze while unstructured data takes considerable effort to process and understand, structured data exists in predefined formats in contrast to unstructured data that is found in a variety of formats (Smallcombe 2020). Analogue data is similar to unstructured data the same way digital data is similar to structured data. Consolidating all data to digital/structured data is a prerequisite for progressing to digital processes and further to complete digitalization. Digitalization can provide a more holistic and real-time view of the taxpayer's income and consumption behaviours by integrating silos of structured and unstructured data systems within government departments (Parviainen et al. 2017).

Although Canada is different from Estonia both culturally and legally speaking, Canada can learn a lot from what Estonia has accomplished. This is a small glimpse of Canadian and Estonian differences that will have an impact of the adoption of digital government services. As presented, it is not feasible to believe that the same model used in Estonia can be simply moved to Canada. It should be reconsidered as to what aspects of their digital government can be used in Canada as a step towards digital government and a simplified tax and benefit administration system. But it is clear from the above that digital identification is also an essential item for moving of digitization.

Digital Identification

When receiving government services in a face-to-face environment, a driver's licence or a passport are among the acceptable forms of identification. But what about in the digital world? How can the government ensure that the person conducting the digital transaction is truly the person they say they are? The answer lies in the development and use of a national digital ID. The whole notion of a digital ID stems from the need to employ a system that processes the identification of an individual wishing to access a government service or complete a transaction accepted by all government levels of government and all agencies.

Digital ID is defined as a foundational set of enabling technologies that can be authenticated unambiguously through a digital channel enabling secure and verified interactions between

individuals and institutions (White et al. 2019). Thus, it provides the backbone for delivering digital government services where it is equivalent to physical government-issued ID. Authentication and verification are the fundamental elements that a national digital ID program will employ to ensure secure and reliable interactions between individuals and government to reduce cyber fraud and restore accessibility issues to services. Identification is the attachment of a personal identifier to an individual which presents attributes of the individual such as name, address, age, or eye colour (Camp 2004). Authentication is the process of proving the identity of an individual through documentation such as a driver's licence and passport or for proving a transaction was completed through a proof of payment (Camp 2004). In the digital world when accessing public services, identification occurs during the account set up when personal information is collected to identify the citizen. Authentication is then performed following identification every time an individual wishes to access a service, perform a transaction, or request information from a government entity. Authentication can occur as a two-factor authentication from a mobile device, submitting answers to security questions, or biometrics such as fingerprints or facial recognition to authenticate the identity of the individual (Mandal 2019; Government of Canada 2021b).

Canada's lack of a national digital ID became more prevalent during the COVID-19 pandemics where Canadians had to deal with a high level of identity fraud, accessibility issues for services that were of upmost need, while abiding to the social distancing regulations (DIACC 2020a). Experts and members of the Digital ID and Authentication Council of Canada have said that although use of the pre-existing digital identity verification has helped countless Canadians receive financial aid during the pandemic. However it is not sufficient, and the momentum of increased digital services use needs to be leveraged to develop a solution for digital ID at all levels of government to elevate the lives of Canadian citizens across the country (DIACC 2020a). As more services and transaction are conducted online the likelihood of identity fraud increases because there is more opportunity and less protection. It is also easier to perform fraudulent activities from behind a computer due to the lack of in-person authentication often requiring the individual to present a government-issued ID. Therefore, it is essential that any digital ID protect them against fraud.

As Canada moves towards further iterations of digital government development, a national digital ID is clearly mandatory and should act similarly to a passport or identity card for digital transactions. Without a passport it is not possible to travel outside of Canada, similarly without a digital ID, an individual will be unable to access services because their identity cannot be verified. Passports look similar and are required for similar verification activities, but digital ID can come in many forms. A common model is a user ID and password combination to login into an online portal, such as that provided by the CRA (Government of Canada 2019a). When creating a *My Account* to access online tax filing through CRA, an individual must provide their social security number, date of birth, postal code, and the amount on their income tax and benefit return (personal identifiers) to identify the individual citizen (Government of Canada 2019a). However, CRAs My Account does not enable general access to government services across Canada. That means something else is required. A potential made-in-Canada solution is building off of the BC Services Card.

Provincial Digital ID: The BC Services Card

The Government of British Columbia (B.C.) created the BC Services Card in February of 2013 in an attempt to position the province as a leader in transformation and technology strategies (Milberry and Parsons 2013). The BC Services Card is a government-issued digital ID that is can be carried on a mobile device. As of 2018, all BC residents are required to be BC Service Card holders in order to gain access to certain health and government services and the provincial government has committed to continually add services as they become available (Milberry and Parsons 2013). Although it is mandatory that all B.C. residents are in possession of a BC Services card, there is no requirement as to what version of the card. There are three versions; a stand-alone BC Services ID card, a hybrid BC Services Card with a driver's license, or a non-photo card (Milberry and Parsons 2013). The latter version is rather simplified but can still be used for a multitude of health and government services. The lack of a photo on the card makes it less versatile, solely for accessing online services. Whereas the stand-alone card and the hybrid card contain a photo identifier and can be used as a form of valid ID in various situations.

Despite the differences in the version, there is one main commonality: a unique identifier. The unique identifier is an ID tag inside the computer chip within the digital card that provides a linking function between the cardholder's personal information and various government departments (Milberry and Parsons 2013). This unique identifier ID tag is used for identification. Upon registering for the BC Services card an individual must provide personal information such as name, address, phone number, and birthdate which will generate the unique ID tag (Government of British Columbia 2021a). This is known as a Personal Account Number (PAN) serving as an automatic identifier every time the card is used to access a service (Milberry and Parsons 2013).

Before being issued a BC Services Card and a PAN, an individual's identity must be authenticated. This is a one-time security check to authenticate the identity of the registering individual which does not have to be, but can be, done in person. This process can be done in approximately five minutes and provides the choice of sending a video recording or attend a short video call with a government employee to validate that the scan of the individuals paper-based ID is the individual on the other end of the call (Government of British Columbia 2021a). Once the digital card is activated proceeding authentication, it uses a password-free login since the identity and authenticity of the individual has been determined during the registration phase. The government of BC has set up a process for regaining access while protecting the information attached to the card (Government of British Columbia 2021b).

The BC services card is a provincial pilot towards a federal identity system that will encompasses all government services provided municipally, provincially, and nationally to create a Canadian digital identity ecosystem to secure the development and use of digital services and products in the public sector (Milberry and Parsons 2013; DIACC 2021,). The BC Services card is being tested by the federal government with the final objective being to harmonize separate government departments through interoperable databases enabling information sharing and nationally accepted digital ID (Milberry and Parsons 2013).

Denmark's NemID

In 1996 Denmark created the world's first national digitalization strategy (Digital Denmark). This was followed by five key developments with a citizen-centric focus; digital signature, *Easy Account*, digital ID, the *Citizen.dk* portal, and digital post (Digital Denmark). All of these equally important stages in the digitalization of Denmark have been premised towards a common goal. That goal was to create a digital citizen and employing individuals with the skills and resources to use digital government services to solve their administrative problems using self-service platforms such as *Easy Account* and *Citizen.dk* (Schou and Hjelholt 2018). After developing a digital signature in 2001, equivalent to a pen-and-paper signature, Denmark created the *Easy Account* platform that validates and promotes the use of digital signature for e-Invoicing (Digital Denmark). These two stages provide the structural pillars for deploying the digital *NemID/EasyID* in 2007 for cross-governmental identity verification and to validate all transaction between individual citizens and government (Digital Denmark ; Smith, Bisson, and Gowen 2015).

NemID took over the digital signature in 2010, requiring Danish individuals and businesses to have a *NemID* (Digital Denmark). It is a physical digital identity card that is linked to the individual's social security number (Schou and Hjelholt 2018). It consists of a user ID, password, and a 6-digit code for first time users setting up their account (Digital Denmark). Following the first login to activate the card, the 6-digit code is no longer needed and will always be used as an identifier associated with the *NemID* for future service access. An individual or business with a *NemID* will then have access to over 2000 self-services where one can access online banking, health care, tax filing, and education programs with the same login (Digital Denmark). There is no need to remember numerous user ID's and passwords but only one for universal public service access.

The success of NemID is evident in its number of satisfied users, significant cost reduction, and usage across a variety of public and private institutions. In July of 2011, *NemID* was used by 79% of the adult populations accounting for 310 million logins throughout the private and public sector combined (Institute for eGovernment 2011). Denmark's digitalization infrastructure and continuous development saves 296 million euros a year and Ministry case processing time has decreased by 30% (Digital Denmark). It is being used across all sectors and demographics. Digital applications for pension have risen 95% which is remarkable given the older demographic of this population, opening up benefit receival for all eligible (Digital Denmark). And 100% of maternity application are completed using *NemID*. As these percentages get closer to one hundred, it becomes harder to close the gap, but the government of Denmark is doing its part. In 2009, 83% of adult-aged Danish citizen had access to home internet (Ngwenyama, Henriksen, and Hardt 2021) and as of the present year 94% have home Internet access (Digital Denmark). The success of *NemID* did not arrive without complication. On March 12, 2013, the *NemID* infrastructure was blindsided by a Denial of Service (DoS) attack achieved

by a group of teens which rendered the system unusable for three whole days, almost three years after its deployment (Ngwenyama, Henriksen, and Hardt 2021). This issue was quickly resolved. However, it was damaging to public confidence in the reliability of the *NemID* infrastructure.

An important factor of success for Danish digital government is the amount of trust that Danish citizens place in the hands of their government to hold and share their personal data (Smith, Bisson, and Gowen 2015). The public services provided are of high quality, likely attributed to transparency. Since promoting digitalization initiatives, transparency in Ministries and organization has increased by 96% (Digital Denmark). Public trust and transparency are casual and highly dependent on one another. Without transparency there can be no trust. It is not acceptable that government must request large amounts of personal information for digital services yet expect their citizens to follow blindly. Thus, the reliability and effectiveness of the *NemID* infrastructure is crucial for gaining, as well as maintain public confidence (Ngwenyama, Henriksen, and Hardt 2021). There must be open communication between government in the public so that there is public trust and to ensure that the digital services receive sufficient uptake to be worth the financial, human, and digital capital investment.

The UK Digital ID Card: A Case Study in Failure

2003 was a formidable year for digital national identity in the UK. By February of 2003 the planning and design process was underway for a compulsory national identity card scheme lead by the UK Home Secretary (Norrington and Maple 2006). Then in March of 2006, the Identity Cards Act was approved commencing the roll-out of the program covering the entire 60 million population of the UK at that time (Norrington and Maple 2006). Each citizen would receive a PIN number assigned to their card for identity purpose (Beynon-Davies 2011). The PIN was linked to a small physical card containing a chip with biometric capabilities for facial recognition, iris, and fingerprint data for authentication purposes (Norrington and Maple 2006).

Unfortunately, implementation of the digital identity scheme fell far short of desired results. Fewer than 15% of all projects under the national digital identity card scheme were considered effective or necessary (Beynon-Davies 2011). By May of 2010 the compulsory digital identity cards were discontinued (Burgess 2020). Lack of success propelled a complete revisioning of what digital ID looks like in the UK and continues to be developed at the time of writing. The UK government and Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) worked towards budgeting for a revolutionized digital tax system for the March 2015 National Budget, followed by a published policy paper outlining a roadmap for *Making Tax Digital* based on consultations occurring the second half of 2016 (Al Karaawy 2018). The goal of *Making Tax Digital* is to provide an opportunity to all stakeholders to provide feedback regarding the transformation of the UK tax system considering it previous missteps.

Despite receiving less than desirable results from the first UK digital identity card, the country strives to redeem itself by working with Canada, Australia, Sweden, and New Zealand towards creating a trust framework for digital identity (Government of the United Kingdom 2021). This design process was not used during the first version in 2006 resulting in a lack of public trust

regarding personal information. Thus, citizens were put off by the mandatory issuing of the card, lack of understanding the "why" behind the card, and privacy issues that were not addressed from the get-go. That is, a lack of transparency doomed the digital ID card.

When citizens don't know what is going on it is hard to encourage buy-in, especially when personal information and the possibility of data profiling and surveillance are involved (Boysen 2021). Another issue was that the program made a fundamental error assuming a unique PIN is ideal for a digitalized society when in reality it is better to have a model similar to Estonia which uses a unique ID, but keeps the data segmented so that citizens feel they are in control (House of Commons Canada 2019). Recommendations from the standing committee of Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics strongly advise against the use of a single identifier for government purposes (House of Commons Canada 2019).

It is anticipated that by developing the new UK digital identity scheme using the principles of a trust framework, citizens will have confidence in their government to provide a secure digital identity card to access government services (Government of the United Kingdom 2021). As forementioned in the Denmark *NemID* case study, public trust and transparency are pinnacle to the success of a digital identity card. Although past initiatives feel short of expectation, Canada can learn from the UK. Their cardinal experience with digital identity provides valuable insights considering the similar government structure of Canada.

Estonia's e-Residency Program

In 2014, Estonia deployed another facet of its e-government digitalization initiative as part of its GaaP infrastructure called e-residency. This project was completed in partnership with Bitnation, who is known as the world's first operational decentralized voluntary nation to offer public notary services to Estonian e-Residents (Alketbi, Nasir, and Talib 2018). The e-Residency program allows Estonian citizens or citizens from other nations to become a "digital resident" and gain access to a variety of services provided by Estonia's digital government (Urban and Pineda 2018). Furthermore, the program provides an opportunity for a small country like Estonia to increase their population, and thus economic activity, without opening up for mass immigration (Ølnes and Jansen 2018).

The combination of the eID and the e-Residency program forged a new facet of government interaction for Estonians. The card functionalities include the notarization of official documents such as birth certificates, marriage licenses, business licenses, land titles, and a variety of documents from around the globe (Alketbi, Nasir, and Talib 2018). At the end of the final quarter of 2017, only three years after implementation, nearly 27,000 applications for e-residency have been received by 143 countries (Urban and Pineda 2018). As a result, 4,272 companies have been registered as Estonian entities and have generated €1.4 million in government revenues and €13 million in benefits related to socio-economic endeavours (Deloitte 2017). It is estimated that government revenues will increase to €31 million by 2021 (Deloitte 2017). As of 2021, the e-Residency program has overperformed its expected growth rate with over €1 billion in revenues produced by Estonian companies run by e-Residents (Rang

2020). As a result, Estonia has created a new way for its ground-breaking e-government model to be experienced by citizens of the world. It has become more evident as Estonia spreads its knowledge to other countries, that there is a real need for digitalization within government if Canada wants to be able to complete with innovative countries (House of Commons Canada 2019)

The Future of Digital ID in Canada

The Digital ID & Authentication Council of Canada (DIACC) is a non-profit council of private and public sector members assembled as a result of the federal government's Electronics Payments Systems Task Force to lead and develop a digital economy by delivering a digital identity and interoperability framework (DIACC 2021a). This framework is called the Pan-Canadian Trust Framework (PCTF). It is a set of digital ID and authentication industry standards that will define how digital ID will roll out across Canada (DIACC 2020a). The overarching objective of the PCTF is to facilitate the migration of traditionally complex face-to-face interactions to efficient digital interactions with the understanding that the transition will still require the use of analogue processes during the transition period (DIACC 2020b). the DIACC published three white papers outlining the framework for a PCTF digital identity in Canada. A close partnership with SecureKey, a company who works alongside government, industry, and consumer-focused collaborators to create a network for self-sovereign identity (SSI) blockchain as a decentralized ledger in Canada (Boysen 2021). Initially, SecureKey developed a cloud-based identity ecosystem using decentralized ledger technology (blockchain) to eliminate a single point of trust/failure and prevent single party data profiling, while maintaining an auditable trail using cryptographic technologies or protocol (DIACC 2019a). The use of blockchain and distributed ledger technology will be addressed shortly, following explanation what digital identity could be like in Canada.

The DIACC proposed a three phased program to design and evaluate a distributed privacy enhancing digital identity ecosystem to launch Canada into participating fully in the growing digital economy. Phase one focused on developing the architecture and privacy principles ensuring privacy by design and laying the foundation that a digital identity framework can be built on (DIACC 2019a). Core principles guided the design of such a solution. The principles laid are: no centralized authority, secure and scalable infrastructure, privacy and security controls, transparency, and built on open standard-based protocols, and auditing capabilities (DIACC 2019a). Phase two is characterized by the implementation of key deliverables that ensure that the vision proposed in phase one can be realized to fruition. These deliverables included obtaining licenses, mobile apps, usage of biometric authentication, and Proof of Concept coding (DIACC 2019c). The model of digital ID proposed is similar to that of the BC Services Card. It is a mobile app that an individual must register for by inputting personal data and consenting to the use of biometric data to access services not only provided by the government but also by the private sector, most notably banking and housing portals (DIACC 2019c). The mobile app is called Verified. Me and can be used as a login to manage all an individual's digital assets while linking their digital identity to a banking institution with the click of a button (DIACC 2019c). In a way it is like PayPal. An individual with a PayPal account can pay for an online purchase simply

by logging into their PayPal account and the transaction is completed through PayPal rather than the website. It is a way to consolidate accounts reducing the friction and added cost of having to remember multiple account passwords and inevitable password reset requests.

Phase three takes the concept of the digital identity card using *Verified.Me* to the next iteration. This is commercialization and marketing. This has proven to be difficult despite analysis of potential barriers to adoption. The three main barriers are a lack of standards to build trust and safeguard Canadians, lack of public-sector investment to get digital IDs delivered across the country, and innovation solutions inhibited by immature technology (DIACC 2021b). The *Verified.Me* service was launched on May 1st, 2019 but has yet to be backed by the federal government and is not considered a national digital ID as of summer 2021 (DIACC 2019b). However, there has been significant progress at the provincial level and national deployment could be viable soon. The province of Alberta and BC have launched their digital IDs followed by significant investment by Quebec. Additionally, Ontario, Saskatchewan, Yukon, Nova Scotia, Newfoundland, Prince Edward Island, and New Brunswick are slowing entering the digital identity space by participating in pilots and proofs of concept (DIACC 2021b). There is support for a national digital ID and Canada is moving in the right direction. There is still work to be done but the PCTF provides the principles for developing a digital ecosystem that is transparent and promotes public trust.

Blockchain and the New Internet

Blockchain is commonly used term to describe the larger umbrella concept of distributed ledger technology. Blockchain is a relatively new digital technology that is commonly linked to Bitcoin or other cryptocurrencies that have gone to market. It has unique characteristics and can perform functionalities that a centralized silo system cannot do or has sever difficulty doing so. However, not all distributed ledgers are considered blockchains. Understanding the difference between blockchain technology (BLT) and distributed ledger technology (DLT) is the first step in evaluating use for providing digital government services to Canadian citizens.

DLT is premised on each participant in the network having access to a shared ledger that is open to all, inviting trust in an unsecure environment without the need for third-party oversight to support information exchange and transactions (Ølnes, Ubacht, and Janssen 2017). BCT follows similar principles to DLT despite sight differences in definition. DLT can be a digital ledger technology with independent anonymous computers. But it can also be used in a structured environment where the owners of the DLT have more control over use of the system in comparison to an open blockchain system. BTC is also a general-purpose technology where the same information is stored on a peer-to-peer (P2P) network of nodes (computers or databases) and the data will only be added when the nodes have reached consensus, however once the information is conceded that information is immutable and a "hash" is created (Urban and Pineda 2018). Using the consensus algorithm, a set of transactions are bound to a block (using a hash) linking to the chain of previous block, thus the name blockchain (Alketbi, Nasir, and Talib 2018). BCT is a more defined concept closely connected with Bitcoin and DLT is a

digital ledger with no central authority.

The complexities of BCT are abundant. Thus, a basic overview of the types of blockchain and consensus algorithms will be explained to provide context for further discussion. As mentioned above a consensus algorithm produces a hash function to build the blockchain. A technique called "hashing" cryptographically seals a new block onto an older block with time-stamped creating a history that cannot be tampered with (Urban and Pineda 2018). There are two models of consensus algorithms that facilitate the hashing process: Proof of Work (PoW) and Proof of Stake (PoS) (Ølnes and Jansen 2018). PoW is a competition between various nodes that make up the network where the first node is required to guess a random number called a "nonce" given to solves a mathematical puzzle (Urban and Pineda 2018). The nonce is then used with cryptographic techniques to get a hash value to link to the pre-existing blockchain (Ølnes, Ubacht, and Janssen 2017). The block is verified when 51% of the nodes reach consensus of the transaction produced by the node that obtained the nonce (Walters 2019). What if by chance two nodes guess the nonce at the same time? This creates a fork in the blockchain and must be resolved by the network participants coming together to agree on the longest branch to continue the blockchain and the shorter end essentially disappears (Ølnes and Jansen 2018; Urban and Pineda 2018).

The PoS algorithm follows PoW with the exception that there is no nonce to be guessed and the block is created based on the wealth of the participant or node (Ølnes and Jansen 2018). One of the critical features of BCT is that it is decentralized and limits the power a single individual or entity can have. It is the distributed consensus mechanism that enables decentralized power allowing the network to decide what information is accepted or rejected for the proposed additions to the chain (Urban and Pineda 2018). Using PoS seems to be counterintuitive to this idea because the more "stake" or wealth a node has the more hashing it can do and develop the blockchain the way it sees fit. However, in the context of government use, PoS provides an entity with more resources and computing power (such as government) to be a leader in the network and thus have more control. This is what government is accustomed to in a centralized system. It makes sense that government would want to maintain some form of control. PoS does have certain advantages in that is has lower latency, requires less computation power and resources, and can provide security for small chains (Ølnes and Jansen 2018). The PoW model relies on the presumption that the cost of compromising the system must outweigh the profit from doing so creating risk in using this consensus algorithm (Ølnes and Jansen 2017). One must decide how much security is necessary.

Arguably more important to informing the decision of whether to use BLT is not is the model of consensus algorithm but rather than the type of blockchain. Blockchains are built for a variety of reasons, in different industries, with various network sizes, and works with different types of data. It is crucial to determine who will use the network, for what reasons, and the level of security required. These questions are crucial to deciding what type of blockchain to use; permissionless, permissioned, or hybrid. Permissionless blockchains (also known as public blockchains) have data that are stored in open source and are accessible to anyone who wishes

to be part of the network and can operate a node with the capacity to read and write a transaction (Walters 2019).

In a permissionless blockchain the identities of the user or entity at the end of the node is pseudonymous and only data elements of that transaction that cannot be linked to an identity are transparent (Walters 2019). Permissioned blockchain are controlled by an owner (usually an organizational entity) who determines what nodes will be allowed onto the network (Ølnes, Ubacht, and Janssen 2017). Nodes that have been granted permission to join the network will also be given rights as to what capabilities can be employed (Ølnes, Ubacht, and Janssen 2017). By granting permission the owner must trust the entity or individual controlling the node and therefore identity will be known. Some may be able to read and write, only write, or only read, providing the controlling entity to decide who can add new blocks. This model also keeps information stored on local machines rather than individually dispersed nodes (Anwar 2018). Like a PoS model, a permissioned blockchain creates a more centralized network that strays father from the initial blockchain model. Hybrid blockchains combine the characteristics of permissioned and permissionless blockchain. Hybrids are controlled by a set of administrators rather than one and agree to rules that govern the consensus model (Walters 2019). It is permissioned in that the group of owners can select who has access to the network but is permissionless in that a 51% consensus must be achieved for the data to be validated and a block added to the chain (Walters 2019).

Permissioned, permissionless, and hybrid blockchain have their advantages and disadvantages depending on use case. Permissionless provide greater transparency, pseudonymity, and in the truest sense support a completely decentralized network. Permission blockchains provide a greater sense of security and control but as more control is gained the less the system resembles the peer-to-peer open idea of blockchain. Hybrid combines the best of both worlds but creates opportunity for corruption by the group of owners. For government use in Canada, it is unrealistic to believe that a completely open permissionless blockchain would comply to PIPEDA unless security protocols that do not yet exist were developed into the system. As of the present day there has been no such development. Permissioned blockchains allow greater control to government bodies. Hybrid may be the best type to use if there is a strong desire for decentralization or the use of a BCT to provide services to customers ensuring that security protections are in place because the network is owned by various government bodies.

PIPEDA Compliance and Blockchain

PIPEDA defines the rules for how private entities and public institutions must handle personal information in Canada since the 2000's (House of Commons Canada 2019). Personal information is "information that on its own or combined with other pieces of data, can identify you as an individual" (Walters 2019). PIPEDA outlines ten principals for personal information and data protection. All principles will be briefly discussed, and some are grouped together since the characteristics of blockchain pose the same barrier to comply with PIPED.

1. Accountability requires that the entity collecting information is responsible for personal data

under its control (Walters 2019). Accountability is difficult in a permissionless blockchain because there is no owner of the network, and it is hard to enforce accountability to the core developers seeing as the network grows it becomes increasingly decentralized. Permissioned and hybrids have one or a cohort of owners and can thus impose accountability, successfully removing the barrier.

- 2. Consent must be provided by the individual for the collection, use and disclosure of personal information. Limiting collection refers to the notion that personal data should only be used for which is necessary for purposes identified by the organization. The final principle of limiting use, disclosure, and retention states that personal information shall not be used or disclosed for purposes other than those initially identified at the time of consent. For an individual to participate in a blockchain there is automatic consent by joining the network and it is not required to provide consent since participation is consent. However, if an entity is using blockchain as their underlying system and does not provide the opportunity for an individual to provide consent, that entity would be in violation of PIPEDA. If it is permissioned or hybrid, it would be expected that the user consent before entering he network can append additional information to a blockchain. This can be done without the original user's permission and blockchain histories can be downloaded by any user. In a permissioned blockchain appending can be monitored to ensure that personal data is not being manipulated for a purpose other than the original intent.
- 3. The safeguard principle states that personal information shall be protected by security safeguards appropriate to the sensitivity of the information. The strongest protection in place is pseudonymity for a permissionless blockchain. Pseudonymity is an encryption control which protects the identity of the personal information holder. Encryption is used to disguise the identity, but that encryption can be broken down. Permissioned and hybrid blockchains can add additional safeguards by limiting permission to only those trusted. This is especially important because identity can be determined by other users and is surely known by the owner. Although it is plausible to provide a level of pseudonymity in a hybrid chain if only one owner is responsible for granting access. However the Privacy Commissioner of Canada believes that that blockchain and encryption are sufficient safeguards (House of Commons Canada 2019).
- 4. Upon request, an individual shall be informed of the existence, use, and disclosure of his or her personal information and shall be given access to that information. The individual has the right to change, add or delete information. The issue with blockchain in reference to this principle is the immutable characteristic. Users can gain access to past information but will not be able to change or delete the original entry. One can only add to it. Permissioned, permissionless, and hybrid face no differences regarding individual access.
- 5. Like consent, an entity must identify the purpose for collecting the personal data to comply with the *identifying purposes* principle. The decentralized nature makes it hard to ensure that the data inputted is only used for its original purpose. Decentralization also makes challenging compliance difficult because there is no audit team for *challenging compliance*. Both these principles could be enforced using a permissioned or hybrid model as there is a central authority. *Accuracy* states that personal information must be accurate,

complete, and as timely as possible. This principle is less of an issue and only is concerning when the initial data is tampered with in a blockchain. This creates a long blockchain of inaccurate data because the first block was inaccurate. Lastly, **openness** is a lesser issue in comparison to the above principles because blockchain is built on an open source and decentralized framework.

BCT and more generally DLT was not developed by Canadians for Canadians. Thus, it is expected that with any new technological development there will be barriers, regulations to comply with, and developments as this digital cryptographic solution diffuses across the globe. This was seen with the development of Internet. PIPEDA is a barrier for blockchain use in Canada, but recommendations are being suggested and improvements are being made to ensure the security and privacy of personal information. Discussion of the principles highlights that permissioned blockchains are malleable to PIPEDA compliance in comparison to permissionless. Maybe permissioned and hybrid blockchains will be the wave of the future. But permissionless models offer greater transparency and decentralization which is what the public wants.

Blockchain in Canada

The considerable newness and decentralized nature of BCT creates issues for government use in Canada considering PIPEDA regulations. In the past Canada has experimented with BCT running proof of concepts to investigate the usability of such a technology. The Government of Ontario and the City of Toronto explored BCT to increase the ease and efficiency of obtaining a restaurant licence but did not continue past the initial phase (Urban and Pineda 2018). The city of Toronto continues to strive towards creating a "digital city" to elevate the lives of its residents but has not employed a blockchain specific strategy (House of Commons Canada 2019). A federal exploration commenced in March of 2016 with Project Jasper using DLT for wholesale interbank payments settlements that have been successfully completed (McCormack et al. 2017). It follows the PoW consensus algorithm but may not be the consensus algorithm used in a final product (Chapman et al. 2017). Project Jasper involves building and testing a "CADcoin" as an interbank payment settlement instrument in partnership with the Bank of Canada and Payments Canada (Urban and Pineda 2018). Project Jasper is still currently being evaluated for its usability in the public sector. There is interest in DLT and BCT coming from different government levels in Canada, but it is not simply interest that can make implementation possible.

In June 2019 the Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics presented a report to the House of Commons titled *Privacy and Digital Government Services* following studies completed by the committee. Experts in the areas of blockchain, data privacy, and e-government service delivery were asked for their input in a variety of privacy issues facing government digitalization initiatives. It is a controversial topic that some believe is advantageous and others believe is not feasible for Canada. Cybersecurity expert Chris Vickery and Chief Information Officer of the Government of Canada Alex Benay are weary of blockchain for digital government service delivery. Vickery expresses resistance due to the lack of maturity of BCT

and in his opinion databases should not communicate in the same language and should rather employ a "translator" in the middle and not have the capability to aggregate their data together (House of Commons Canada 2019). In a BCT there many local databases, but the number is meager in comparison to the number of individual nodes all pooling together data. Exactly the opposite of what Mr. Vickory believes is the ideal digital infrastructure.

Mr. Benay stated that digital government services need to be secure by design and that security has been central to every major digital project within government over the past year (House of Commons Canada 2019). With security seemingly being the top priority, it is not surprising that he does not support putting all government information into one system or data pool but would likely to develop a system that supports interoperability across different departments and levels of government (House of Commons Canada 2019, 17, 36). Although the data within a permissionless blockchain system is essentially accessible by anyone, it is encrypted to the point where it is only metadata and would require expertise to consolidate various pieces of metadata through the whole system to uncover one piece of real data. As the technical knowhow of blockchain systems grows, more and more people may be able to append metadata for malicious purposes and could create security risks. Although Benay did not reference blockchain directly, the security protocols were not a priority for the system, predominately relying on decentralization, encryption, and pseudonymity.

Of the experts interviewed about blockchain almost all see potential in using BCT specifically or a similar DLT. Daniel Therrien, Privacy Commissioner of Canada is in opposition to Benya and Vickory. With regard to digital government service deliver, Mr. Therrien expressed his expertise in favour of blockchain saying that the government should be legally required to apply strong technological safeguards, such as blockchain and encryption (House of Commons Canada 2019, 35). Anna Cavoukian, former Ontario privacy commissioner and expert in residence at the Privacy by Design Centre of Excellence at Ryerson University sees a future with blockchain in government if privacy by design is incorporated from the beginning (House of Commons Canada 2019, 6). Furthermore, she stated that "the more you have decentralized pots of information the greater likelihood the data will be retained for the purposes intended and not used across the board for a variety of purposes that were never contemplated" (House of Commons Canada 2019, 13). It seems there is great potential for blockchain despite its perceived lack of privacy and security protocols by many, bearing in mind that privacy and security should be a guiding principle in the design process. SecureKey's extensive work with blockchain and the DIACC in the development of the PCTF for a national digital ID has led to the design of a blockchain privacy solution to hinder creation of a surveillance network which can happen easily using a single identifier for government. Andre Boysen, CIO, SecureKey Technologies explains how his company is using blockchain for its identity proofs to implement triple blinds to validate that the issuer of the data actually wrote it and that the data has not been altered (House of Commons Canada 2019, 29). The technicalities of such identity proofs are beyond the scope of this report but the fact that it is a solution to a privacy problem is important.

There is exciting potential towards digital government using blockchain as exemplified above,

although as a revolutionary new technology it does not come without its risks. Most of these risks are privacy and security related. BCT may not be ready quite yet for deployment across government right now, but with a focus on privacy by design and introducing new security protocols it could be transformational for Canada's digital government.

Implications

Digitalization of the Canadian tax and benefit administration affects Canadian citizens in numerous ways. These include how the tax filing process is done for individuals and organizations, the role employers play, and how identity is proven using digital technologies. Online filing, pre-filled income tax forms, and real-time reporting can alleviate frustration when interacting with CRA. Real-time reporting can take away the need for employers to conduct third-party reporting. A digital ID is a gateway to reducing friction while accessing digital government services. Employing digital technologies for the tax and benefit administration system is a transformation that is needed but is not the only area of government that needs digitalization. All levels and departments of government will need to undergo digital transformation to support movement towards e-government as the digital economy and society continue to grow.

Digital Access and the Digital Divide

An e-government platform that provides a myriad of services digitally will require that all citizens have the resources to access these services. Resources include access to the Internet, access to a mobile device, financial revenue to purchase Internet and devices, and training on how to use such devices and services. Furthermore, all citizens must be able to access these services such as people with disabilities, low-income families and persons, Indigenous Peoples, seniors, and new Canadians. The issue facing Canada in providing effective digital services is that not all citizens have the resources or the ability to access the benefits provided by digital government. Canada needs to reduce the gap between the number of citizens who can access and those that cannot. Inaccessibility to digital technologies results in substantial inequalities known as the "digital divide" (Fang et al. 2019).

The extent of the digital divide was demonstrated with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic where access to a device connected to the Internet was paramount. Canadians were expected to work from home, do schooling at home, connect with loved ones, and/or access goods and services. Canadians with no or limited access experienced further isolation and exclusion. To provide a positive digital government service, the digital divide needs to close or ideally be eliminated completely.

Indigenous Peoples and Canadians living in Rural Areas

Due to the large and unique geography of Canada the digital divide is relatively large for a

country where internet and owning a mobile device is no longer a luxury. It is a necessity especially in light of COVID-19 and the growing digital society we live in. In 2020, 95% of Canadian households in the census metropolitan area or consensus agglomeration had a home Internet connection whereas only 88% of households outside these areas had access (Statistics Canada 2021a). This percentage has remained relatively unchanged since 2018 despite the introduction of Canada's Connectivity Strategy published the same year (Statistics Canada 2021a).

Some households have access to home Internet, but it is so slow it is almost unusable. To efficiently use the Internet, there must be capacity to download at 50Mbps and upload at 10Mbps (50/10) (Innovation Science Economic Development Canada 2019). The difference in access to 50/10 Internet speeds are vastly different when comparing urban, rural, and Indigenous households. 97% of urban households have access to the standard speed, dropping to 37% for rural household and even further to 24% of Indigenous households (Innovation Science Economic Development Canada 2019). The huge gap in home internet accessibility can be attributed to less coverage in rural places because it not worth the effort for telecommunication companies to put up towers and systematic discrimination toward Indigenous Peoples. When asked, why the respondent did not have at home Internet access, 39% reported the cost of Internet service and the cost of equipment (Statistics Canada 2021a). This response is expected considering Canada is one of the most expensive countries in the G7 for both Internet and mobile wireless connection (Béïque et al. 2020).

Access to a mobile device or a computer is another inflow to the digital divide. Since 2019-2020, 88% of Canadians had a mobile device (Béïque et al. 2020). The percentage of this population with smart phones are likely living in or near a metropolitan area where cellular coverage is abundant. But what about individuals living in rural areas and especially Indigenous communities in the north? Based on the demographic data of home Internet coverage throughout Canada, it was reported that 81% of Canadians living in an urban area had a cellular data plan and 73% living in rural areas had one (Statistics Canada 2021a). There was no corresponding statistic found for Indigenous Peoples. Although the 8% difference is not overly significant, it is possibly due to lack of telecommunications infrastructure in the area. The proportion of Indigenous peoples experiencing the inequalities of the digital divide is enormous as proven above. Significant effort needs to be exerted towards improving telecommunications infrastructure in the north to facilitate the use of high-speed Internet, mobile cellular access, ownership of mobile devices, and computers. The public and private sector have made commitment to closing the digital divide gap in Indigenous communities mention shortly.

Low-Income Families

Although Indigenous peoples occupy a proportionally large population of Canadians struggling with lack of accessibility, other groups of people are separated from fully participating in the digital economy as well. Low-income household, people with disabilities, seniors, and new Canadians often face barriers for accessing digital devices and services for different reasons.

Persons receiving low-income often face the hard reality of not be able to afford a mobile device or home internet service. In 2019, almost half of Canadian households with an annual income of \$30,000 or less do not have access to high-speed internet (Government of Canada 2019b). 53% of single mother across Canada are living in poverty (TELUS 2019). Consequently, they lack resources to find a job, receive education or workforce training opportunities, and afford internet access or a mobile device. Providing equipment with Internet access has the potential to make a difference in the lives of low-income families, single parents, and people living in poverty.

People with Disabilities

Persons living with disabilities experiences everyday barriers that can be reduced by providing adaptations for independent use of digital devices. 1 in 5 Canadians live with a disability with 80% requiring aid or assistive devices (TELUS 2021b). 20% of the Canadian population lives with some form of disability that may limit their ability to take full advantage of what digital devices can offer. Justifiable that 19.5% of Canadian aged fifteen and above living with a disability did not use the Internet in 2021 (Government of Canada 2021a). In addition 2.7 million (9.6%) Canadians aged fifteen and above have a mobility disability likely requiring some form of assistance in 2020 (Government of Canada 2020b). Programs can be developed to improve interaction with the Internet and digital devices to improve independence.

Seniors

Seniors are another group of Canadians that are affected by the digital divide. Senior-aged Canadians did not grow up in the digital world and participating in it does not come naturally for the majority. The government listened to it senior population to understand what they needed to participate in the digital world to reduce the digital divide. This group indicated the need for technology-enabled solutions that do not increase social isolation, add undue burden, and over complicate processes (Béïque et al. 2020). To fully engage with the digital world seniors need supports to develop digital skills and provide accommodations such as larger print and louder ringtones.

New Canadians

Lastly, programs need to be in place to help new Canadians feel comfortable using digital devices to eventually use for government services. New Canadians will need supports to fully engage with Canada's digital economy. These supports must be tailored to barriers faced by new Canadians and should not be the same as those provided to seniors. This may involve assistance purchasing a mobile device or setting up an Internet service. In the context of government this could be accomplished by introducing many language options for digital government services. These groups most affected by the digital divide possess differences that make their experience and attitude towards digitalization different. Identifying these differences is a step towards closing the gap. The next step is how to close that gap.

Minimizing the Digital Divide

Canada's private and public sector are working to close the digital divide. There are programs and projects that aim to help all Canadians affected by the digital divide. Telus has made signification investments in programs for low-income families and persons with disabilities. It has also been collaborating with Indigenous governments, federal, and provincial governments to bring advanced connectivity to indigenous communities (TELUS 2020). The Telus Internet for Good program provides low-income families with a net income of less than or equal to \$31,120 with Internet plans for \$9.95/month (plus applicable taxes) for 24 months then it is regular price thereafter (TELUS 2019). The plan provides speeds up to 25Mbps and up to 300 GB data/month with no contract or cancellation fees (TELUS 2019). The Mobility for Good program supports young adults aging out of foster care system and low-income seniors with subsidized smartphone and plans (TELUS 2021a). Telus provides a free phone and plan with unlimited Canada-wide talk and text with 3GB of data per month (TELUS 2021a). The Tech for Good program supports people with disabilities who require professional assistance to independently use or control their mobile devices and provide unique assistive hardware or software technology required for persons with disabilities. (TELUS 2021b). Telus is actively collaborating with more than 30 Indigenous communities, governments and third-party organizations to support the expansion of advanced broadband networks and our wireless LTE networks in TELUS' B.C. territory (TELUS 2020). The company has invested \$900 million into connecting rural and Indigenous communities across Canada 178 Indigenous communities (TELUS 2020). Telus is a leader in decreasing the digital divide across Canada.

The Canadian 2020 Digital Charter also established programs to help in similar ways. These include the Computer for Schools programs, Connecting Families initiative, Accessible Technologies Program, and Digital Literacy Exchange (Béïque et al. 2020). The largest project outlined in the Digital Charter requiring the most capital is Connect to Innovate program launched in 2016 (Innovation Science Economic Development Canada 2019). The program will be investing \$500M in 900 rural and remote communities, including 190 Indigenous communities. (Béïque et al. 2020). Connect to Innovate has exceeded expectations by connecting 300 additional communities (Innovation Science Economic Development Canada 2019). Although the program was a success there is still a lot of work to be done. Thus, Budget 2019 announced and investment to mobilize up to \$6 billion toward universal connectivity (Innovation Science Economic Development Canada 2019). This investment was used to develop Canada's Connectivity Strategy. The objective is to deliver 50/10 connectivity to 90% of Canadians by 2021, 95% of Canadians by 2026, and the hardest-to-reach Canadians by 2030 in addition to enhanced mobile connectivity on highways and major roads (Innovation Science Economic Development Canada 2019). To develop infrastructure along highways and major roads \$1.7 billion in funding will be used to provide broadband access across the country (Koch 2020). Connecting all Canadians, especially those living in the north and in Indigenous communities will require weighty capital and collaboration between the public and private sector and across government levels. The Government of Yukon has committed to Canada's Connectivity strategy with the Dempster Fibre Project. It is a 800-Kilometre fibre optic line that

follows the Dempster Highways from Dawson City, Yukon, to Inuvik, Northwest Territories that will connect to a fibre optic line in the Mackenzie Valley where Alberta, BC, Yukon, Saskatchewan, and Northwest Territories meet (Government of Yukon 2021). With the combination of the projects and programs above and ones not mentioned that the digital divide will decrease until it in nonresistant.

Economic Implications

There will also be expected resistance with new technology that can highlight human misbehaviours "allowing greater visibility of individual transactions and accounting records" (ITR Correspondent 2019). Resistance may also come in the form of budgetary concerns and job loss in the accounting and auditing industry. The accounting and related industries may be concerned that their job will become redundant once digitalized, but in actuality is more likely to witness a job role change rather than the job becoming obsolete (Schmitz and Leoni 2019). The initial design and setup cost will be expensive but once implemented and operational, the marginal cost for maintenance are minimal compared to the revenue losses experienced using an archaic tax system (Townsend et al. 2018).

Digitalization can provide incremental economic growth and reduce unemployment, thus improving quality of life and boosting citizen accessibility to government services provided by greater government efficiency and transparency (Parviainen et al. 2017; Sabbagh et al. 2012). In terms of quantitative evidence, Sabbagh et al. (2012) determined that digitalization can increase economic benefits by 20% in countries categorized as being in the advanced stages of digitalization as compared to those in the initial stages. More specifically, it was concluded upon analysis of 150 different countries that a 10% increase in digitalization prompts a 0.50 to 0.62% gain in per capita GDP and reduces the unemployment rate by 0.85 (Sabbagh et al. 2012). Improvements in these macroeconomic factors that gauge the health of the economy show that digitalization can truly improve quality of life.

Conclusion

The Canadian tax and benefit administration system is in need of digital transformation to reduce inefficiencies and enhance the tax filing process for citizens. The tax system has remined fundamentally unchanged in the last 100 years despite the growing national and global digital economy. As a result, it is not currently adaptive to changes in the nature of the work force and is unable to effectively react to drastic changes in income as exemplified with the onset of COVID-19 in first quarter of 2020.

There are two key structural barriers within the Canadian tax and benefit administration system: self-assessment and annual reporting. Self-assessment places the onus of tax filing on the individual citizen to fill out a personal income tax form which is then subject to matching and verification by the tax authority. The self-assessment model has become problematic in a tax

system that has become increasingly complex and where filing is required to assess eligibility for income benefits. Barriers to tax filing can be overcome by shifting to administrative assessment which entails the tax authority producing and issuing pre-filled tax forms. Under such a system, individuals only need to confirm that the income on the tax return is in fact correct instead of filling it in themselves. When paired with deemed filing, a system where if no response is received the tax filing is assumed to be accurate and processed accordingly, it eases the tax filing process for citizens and ensures everyone is assessed for benefits delivered through the tax system.

COVID-19 exemplified the tax systems inability to react to changes in income in real-time due to the annual reporting regime in place. Tax filers are required to report income to the tax authority on an annual basis and before April 30th for the previous year. The pandemic brought drastic changes in income from one month to another as various health measures, such a physical distancing and business closures, meant unprecedented layoffs, furloughs, and firings. Those affected were unable to receive benefits in real time, not only because the Employment Insurance system was overwhelmed, but also because many other important benefits are linked directly to the filing of an income return. This resulted in needing to roll out new emergency income support programs. If the tax and benefit administration system employed real-time reporting, there would have been no need for such emergency benefits because income supports could be adjusted in real-time as needed. Such a move to real-time reporting is based on a digitalization of payroll, known colloquially as e-payroll. E-payroll simply requires employers reporting employees pay information on a more frequent basis than annually.

Digitalization of the tax system encompasses a larger movement towards digital government or e-government. Digital transformation of government services would provide greater support for digitalization of the tax and benefit administration system. Digital governments are gaining in popularity and Canada is relatively behind in this area compared to countries across the world, especially in Europe. A digital government transformation requires all levels of government and within various departments have the ability to communicate and exchange information. Presently, the government infrastructure is siloed and often requires citizens to give the same personal information to multiple agencies. Embracing the concept of 'Government databases and that personal data is not replicated. Estonia particularly has been working to digitally transform its government for the past two decades and has gained global recognition for its digital government infrastructure. Estonia's system infrastructure known as X-road, is the backbone for its 'Government as a Platform' model. Canada has much to learn from the successes and failures of Estonian projects under the 'Government as a Platform' model as it embraces and accelerates a move towards a more digital government.

To ensure usability of the 'Government as a Platform' model, there needs to be a mechanism in place to identify and validate an individual's identity when accessing government services. Such an identify is known as a digital ID. A digital ID acts the same as a government issued ID such as a passport or driver's license. It allows citizens to access digital government services and

ensure that their information is private and secure. The Digital Identification and Authentication Council of Canada is working towards creating a national digital ID following the success of the Government of British Columbia's BC Services Card. With a national digital ID in place, all individuals accessing government services would be provided with a digital ID that allows them access to all government services once the card has been activated. The use of digital IDs has been widespread throughout Europe, allowing citizens access to a myriad of government services: Denmark, Finland, and Estonia specifically provide impressive case studies for successful implementation of a digital identification system. Each of these countries possess slight variations as to what their digital ID looks like, but all perform the same fundamental aspects of identification and authentication. Equally, the failed UK digital card roll out provides crucial lesson for things to avoid, especially concerning government capabilities and level of citizen trust in government.

The information from these case studies points to the fact that successfully providing digital government services, especially those related to the tax system, requires the digital divide to be addressed. Canada is a large country varying in geography, where not all regions of Canada have the same level of telecommunications infrastructure, especially with regard to access to broadband. This is especially true for rural and remote communities. This creates accessibility issues related to digital services. If individuals do not have access to a high quality and reliable internet connection, a device to access the connection, or have the digital literacy to use the services, a sizeable portion of the population will be prevented from accessing these services. This means that telecommunication infrastructure needs to be built up in Canada. Given existing gaps in such infrastructure, special consideration will need to be paid to Indigenous communities that lack access to affordable, accessible, and high-quality broadband.

This infrastructure though needs to extend beyond just broadband services. Mobile devices and computers are also inaccessible for some. While there are various government entities, non-profit community organizations, and private companies that do donate devices and help low-income and new Canadians gain access to such devices, there are still large gaps in getting such technology into the hands of those that need it. This includes seniors, people living with disabilities, and refugees. Price friendly internet services and lower-priced mobile devices allow such individuals to use services that will enable them to receive the appropriate benefits and income supplements. Furthermore, training should be provided to seniors and newcomers to Canada to improve digital literacy. Lastly, modified devices that are accessible to people with disabilities will allow this group to participate in the digital economy.

Knowledge Mobilization Activities

This knowledge mobilization project began just as the third wave of the COVID-19 pandemic hit jurisdictions across Canada and two of the three authors of this report were living in the Alberta, the jurisdiction that was hardest hit by the third wave. Two of the three authors on this report are also parents to young children, varying in age from 0 to 8 years of age. The impact of the third

wave was such that K-12 schools and childcare centres were episodically closed to face-to-face learning either due to provincial wide closure mandates or isolated outbreaks within classes and schools that occurred throughout the period of January-June 2021. The disruption that these closures had on parents' lives cannot be understated and did affect planned knowledge mobilization activities associated with this project. That said, as became common place throughout the pandemic, the research team pivoted activities away from face-to-face activities and flexible online engagement in various ways.

Peer-reviewed Journal Articles

As planned, the team on this project, along with two additional authors with expertise in tax policy and benefit administration, published preliminary findings in an open access peer reviewed journal article as follows: Gillian Petit, Lindsay M. Tedds, David Green, and Jonathan Rhys Kesselman. 2021. Re-envisaging the Canada Revenue Agency—From Tax Collector to Benefit Delivery Agent. *Canadian Tax Journal* 69(1), 99-114.

https://www.ctf.ca/CTFWEB/Documents/CTJ%202021/Issue%201/99_2021CTJ1-PF-3-Petitetal.pdf

The team also plans to submit shortened version of the knowledge mobilization (KM) report to the open access peer reviewed journal *The School of Public Policy Publication Research Papers Series* in Fall 2021.

Media and Social Media

The principal investigator on this project, Lindsay Tedds, has been actively sharing the findings and recommendations of the work as it progressed on her Twitter account, which has nearly 14,000 followers. Many politicians, bureaucrats, academics, emerging scholars, and community-based organizations actively follow Dr. Tedds and her messages have led to productive engagement on the policy issues related to our work. It has also led to a number of interviews for print media, including in the Unites States given the links of our work to the implementation of the Child Tax Credit in that country. We also plan several op-eds promoting our work in Fall 2021 upon completion and publication of this KM report. To help with this public engagement, we plan to develop an infographic that outlines the results of this work.

Engagement with Policymakers

In order actually effect policy change, it is important that key policy makers be informed of our work in this area. We have had the pleasure of having several meetings not only with various ministerial staff and bureaucrats in several governments and government ministries across Canada, but also individuals in a number of community-based organizations as well as academic and emerging scholars to discuss our findings and recommendations.

Engagement with Expert Panels, Reports, Working Groups

We have also been able to bring our work to the attention of various expert panels that are

working in areas that are relevant to the topic of our report. The BC Basic Income panel included several of our recommendations from our preliminary work in their final <u>report</u>. Our work is also being incorporated into reports for the Government of Nunavut on the design and delivery of a basic income in Nunavut. Material from this report will be included in the recommendations related to the report of the Royal Society of Canada's COVID-19 Working Group on Women and the Economy. Finally, the findings and recommendations outlined in this knowledge mobilization report have been articulated to the federal government's Task Force on Women and the Economy.

Student Involvement

Two student assistants received high quality training and mentorship through this project and are included as authors on this report. Ms. Marina Flaim participated in this project as part of her undergraduate cooperative education requirements at the University of Ottawa. Marina conducted the primary literature searches, synthesis, and critical analysis and led the writing of the KM report. Ms. Gillian Petit, a Ph.D. candidate at the University of Calgary, established the methodology along with the key jurisdictions identified for case studies, and provided day-to-day supervision of Ms. Flaim. Ms. Flaim also present the results of our preliminary and final work at the organized KM sessions.

Bibliography

- Al Karaawy, Najim Abd Aliwie. 2018. "The impact of making tax digital application on the accounting costs." *Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies Journal* 22 (3): 1-13.
- Alketbi, Ahmed, Qassim Nasir, and Manar Abu Talib. 2018. "Blockchain for government services—Use cases, security benefits and challenges." 2018 15th Learning and Technology Conference (L&T).
- Anwar, Hasib. 2018. "Blockchain GDPR Paradox: Is it a Rising Conflict Between Law and Technology ", September 24, 2018.
- Beauvais, Michael. 2021. "Canada's tax return system jeopardizes the privacy of millions of Canadians." *The Globe and Mail* Feburary 2, 2021.
- Béïque, Janie, Arvind Gupta, Sarah Lubik, Carole Piovesan, Mark Podlasly, and Ilse Treurnicht.
 2020. Canada's Digital Charter in Action: A Plan by Canadians, for Canadians. edited by
 Science Innovation, and Economic development Canada. Ottawa: Government of
 Canada.
- Beynon-Davies, Paul. 2011. "The UK national identity card." *Journal of Information Technology Teaching Cases* 1 (1): 12-21.
- Bharosa, Nitesh, Silvia Lips, and Dirk Draheim. 2020. "Making e-government work: learning from the Netherlands and Estonia." International Conference on Electronic Participation.
- Boysen, Andre. 2021. "Decentralized, Self-Sovereign, Consortium: The Future of Digital Identity in Canada." *Frontiers in Blockchain* 4: 11.

Brookes, Kevin, and Pascale Dery. 2018. Should the government pre-fill your tax return? Burgess, Matt. 2020. "No, Dominic Cummings isn't plotting to bring back ID cards." *WIRED*. Camp, L. Jean. 2004. "Digital identity." *IEEE Technology and society Magazine* 23 (3): 34-41. https://doi.org/10.1109/MTAS.2004.1337889.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/3226811 Digital identity.

- Canada Revenue Agency. 2004. "Do you have to file a return?". Last Modified 2020-01-21. Accessed November 5. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-</u> <u>agency/services/tax/individuals/topics/about-your-tax-return/you-have-file-a-</u> return.html.
- ---. 2020a. 2020-21 Departmental Plan.
- ---. 2020b. "T1 Final Statistics 2019 edition (for the 2017 tax year)".
- Chapman, James, Rodney Garratt, Scott Hendry, Andrew McCormack, and Wade McMahon. 2017. "Project Jasper: Are distributed wholesale payment systems feasible yet." *Financial System* 59.
- Deloitte. 2017. "Deloitte: E-residency brought €14.4 million to Estonia in first three years." *ERR News*.
- DIACC. 2019a. Consumer Digital Identity Leveraging Blockchain: Delivering a Distributed Privacy Enhanced Identity Ecosystem (Part 1). Digital ID & Authentication Council of Canada. <u>https://2m6dvv3zi6nj31h9a91s1wdk-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2019/03/DIACC_Phase2_SK-2019-FINAL.pdf</u>.
- ----. 2019b. *Consumer Digital Identity: Leveraging Blockchain (Part 3).* Digital ID & Authentication Council of Canada (Toronto, Ontario). <u>https://securekey.b-cdn.net/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2020/07/DIACC-White-Paper Consumer-Digital-Identity-Leveraging-</u> <u>Blockchain.pdf.</u>
- ---. 2019c. Consumer Digital Identity: Leveraging Distributed Privacy Enhancing Technology (Part 2). Digit ID & Authentication Council of Canada (DIACC). <u>http://securekey.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DIACC-Consumer-Digital-Identity-Public-White-Paper.pdf</u>.
- ---, September 15, 2020, 2020a, "Newly Launched Digital ID Framework to Begin Testing in Canada," <u>https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20200915005744/en/Newly-Launched-Digital-ID-Framework-to-Begin-Testing-in-Canada#:~:text=September%2015%2C%202020%2008%3A00%20AM%20Eastern%20Daylight%20Time,how%20digital%20ID%20will%20roll%20out%20across%20Canada.</u>
- ---. 2020b. *Pan-Canadian Trust Framework Model.* (Digital ID & Authentication Council of Canada). <u>https://diacc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/PCTF-Model-Final-Recommendation_V1.0.pdf</u>.
- ---, June 22, 2021, 2021a, "DIACC Membership Appoints 2021 Board of Directors," <u>https://diacc.ca/2021/06/22/diacc-membership-appoints-2021-board-of-directors/</u>.
- ---. 2021b. "Digital ID, the next step to easier, more convenient government services for citizens." February 22, 2021. <u>https://diacc.ca/2021/02/22/digital-id-the-next-step-to-easier-more-convenient-government-services-for-citizens/</u>.
- ---. 2021c. "Principles." The Diacc. Digital ID & Authentication Council of Canada. Accessed July 10, 2021. <u>https://diacc.ca/the-diacc/principles/</u>.
- ---, May 3, 2021, 2021, , "Directory of Products That Assess Identification Documents and Verify Identity Version 2.0," <u>https://diacc.ca/2021/05/03/directory-of-products-that-assess-identification-documents-and-verify-identity-version-2-0/</u>.
- Digital Denmark. "Denmark's Digital Timeline." Digital Denmark. Accessed July 9, 2021. <u>https://digitaldenmark.dk/digital-timeline</u>.

---. "Digital Identity." Accessed July 9, 2021. https://digitaldenmark.dk/case/digital-id/.

Enterprise Estonia. 2020. "We have built a digital society and we can show you how." e-estonia. Accessed May 30, 2021. <u>https://e-estonia.com/</u>.

- Erard, Brian, Chris Evans, Binh Tran-Nam, Magali Verdonck, and Jose Duran-Cabre. 2011. "Prefilled Personal Income Tax Returns: A Comparative Analysis of Australia, Belgium, California, Quebec and Spain." *Studies in Budget and Tax Policy*, no. Edited by Vaillancourt, François.
- Fang, Mei Lan, Sarah L Canham, Lupin Battersby, Judith Sixsmith, Mineko Wada, and Andrew Sixsmith. 2019. "Exploring privilege in the digital divide: implications for theory, policy, and practice." *The Gerontologist* 59 (1): e1-e15.
- Government of British Columbia. 2021a. "BC Services Card." Government ID. Province of British Columbia. Accessed July 7, 2021.

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/government-id/bc-services-card.

- ---. 2021b. "Security." BC Services Card. Province of British Columbia. Accessed July 7, 2021. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/government-id/bc-services-</u> <u>card/security</u>.
- Government of Canada. 2019a. "About My Account." Government of Canada. Last Modified 2019-02-11. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/services/e-services/e-services-individuals/account-individuals/about-account.html</u>.
- ---. 2019b. Connecting Families. edited by Science and Economic Development Canada Innovation.
- ---. 2020a. "About the Canada Revenue Agency." Government of Canada. Last Modified Feburary 28, 2020. Accessed May 13, 2021. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/revenue-agency/corporate/about-canada-revenue-agency-cra.html</u>.
- ---. 2020b. Canadians with a mobility disability. edited by Statistics Canada.
- ---. 2021a. Internet use for persons with disabilities aged 15 years and over, by age group and sex. edited by Statistics Canada.
- ---. 2021b. "Multi-factor authentication to access CRA login services." CRA Login Services. Government of Canada. Last Modified June 4, 2021.
- Government of the United Kingdom. 2021. The UK digital identity and attributes trust framework. edited by Culture Department for Digital, Media & Sport. United Kingdom: Gov.UK.
- Government of Yukon. 2021. "Dempster Fibre Project." Government of Yukon. <u>https://yukon.ca/dempsterfibreproject</u>.
- Holen, Arlene. 2010. "Comments: "Pre-Filled Personal Income Tax Returns in Quebec" by Francois Vaillancourt, Universite De Montreal and "Pre-Completed Income Tax Returns: Evidence from the California Readyreturn Program" by Brian Erard, B. Erard & Associates." Proceedings. Annual Conference on Taxation and Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the National Tax Association.
- Hou, Feng, Yao Lu, and Christoph Schimmele. 2019. *Measuring the gig economy in Canada using administrative data*. Statistics Canada.
- House of Commons Canada. 2019. Report of the Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics. edited by House of Commons Chambre Des Communes Canada. Ottawa, Ontario: Speaker of the House of commons.

Hubbard, Ruth, and Gilles Paquet. "Phoenix and CRA: Two Catastrophic Governance Failures." Ibrahim, Idawati, and Jeffrey Pope. 2011. "The viability of a pre-filled income tax return system

for Malaysia." *Journal of Contemporary Issues in Business and Government* 17 (2): 85-102.

https://espace.curtin.edu.au/bitstream/handle/20.500.11937/3294/173487_52004_JCI BG%2017%202%20FINALfull%20paper.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y.

- Innovation Science Economic Development Canada. 2019. "High-speed access for all: Canada's connectivity strategy."
- Institute for eGovernment. 2011. "Digital signature system NemID completes successful first year of operation." *IfG.CC The Potsdam eGovernment Competence Center*, August, 2011.
- ITR Correspondent. 2019. "How can companies prepare for real-time reporting trends?" *International Tax Review*.
- Kalja, Ahto. 2002. "The X-road project." *A Project to Modernize Estonia's National Databases. Baltic IT&T review* 24: 47-48.
- Kalvet, Tarmo. 2012. "Innovation: a factor explaining e-government success in Estonia." *Electronic Government, an International Journal* 9 (2): 142-157.
- Kelmm, Jurgen. 2019. In Estonia tax filing is done in one minuet edited by KAWL. San Fransico.
- Koch, Katharina. 2020. "Infrastructure policy trends: the digital divide and the lack of broadband access during COVID-19." *The School of Public Policy Publications* 13.
- Kozak, Daniel. 2018. "Innovation in national e-governments. Estonia as a role model in the citizen-centric approach?".
- Li, Jinyan, and Jacklyn Neborak. 2018. "Issue 2: Tax, Race, and Child Poverty: The Case for Improving the Canada Child Benefit Program." *Journal of Law and Social Policy* 28 (1): 67-96.
- Mandal, Marina. April 4, 2019 2019. *Privacy of Digital Government Services*. Canadian Bankers Association and Privacy and Ethics House of Commons Standing Committee on Access to Information, Canadian Bankers Association (Canadian Bankers Association). <u>https://cba.ca/Assets/CBA/Documents/Files/Article%20Category/PDF/040519%20-</u> <u>%20Digital%20Government%20and%20Privacy%20Opening%20Remarks%20ENG%20Fo</u> <u>rmatted%20.pdf</u>.
- Margetts, Helen, and Andre Naumann. 2017. "Government as a platform: What can Estonia show the world." *Research paper, University of Oxford*.
- Marotte, Bertrand. 2013. "More Canadians file own taxes, but some miss out on savings: survey." *The Globe and Mail*, April 3, 2013.
- McCormack, Andrew, Joshua Burrill, Kathryn Martin, Neville Arjani, Scott Hendry, James Chapman, Dinesh Shah, Adrian Guerin, Rod Garratt, and Clemens Wan. September 29, 2017 2017. Project Jasper: A Canadian Experiment with Distributed Ledger Technology for Domestic Interbank Payments Settlement. Payments Canada
 Bank of Canada

R3. https://www.payments.ca/sites/default/files/29-Sep-17/jasper report eng.pdf.

- McKie, David. 2017. "Many Indigenous families not applying for Canada child benefit: documents." *CBC*, July, 21, 2017.
- Milberry, Kate, and Christopher Parsons. 2013. "A National ID Card by Stealth." *The BC Services Card: Privacy Risks, Opportunities and Alternatives, BC Civil Liberties Association*.
- Ngwenyama, Ojelanki, Helle Zinner Henriksen, and Daniel Hardt. 2021. "Public Management Challenges in the Digital Risk Society: A Critical Analysis of the Public Debate on Implementation of the Danish NemID." *European Journal of Information Systems*: 1-19.
- Nordic Institute for Interoperability Solutions. 2020. "X-Road." Nordic Institute for Interoperability Solutions. Accessed April 8, 2021. <u>https://x-road.global/</u>.

Norrington, Peter, and Carsten Maple. 2006. "Extending e-government to e-society: usability lessons from the UK ID Card Trial." IADIS International Conference e-Society 2006.

O'Reilly, Tim. 2011. "Government as a Platform." Innovations: Technology, Governance,

Globalization 6 (1): 13-40.

- OECD. 2006. Tax Administration in OECD and Selected Non-OECD Countries: Comparative Information Series. (Center for Tax Policy and Administration). <u>https://www-oecdilibrary-org.ezproxy.lib.ucalgary.ca/docserver/9789264064904-</u> <u>en.pdf?expires=1621452103&id=id&accname=ocid57005644&checksum=6DA69EDFA84</u> <u>2641004E2DC6175E7CF13</u>.
- ---. Janurary 22, 2008 2008. Third Party Reporting Arrangements and Pre-filled Tax Returns: The Danish and Swedish Approaches. (Center for Tax Policy and Administration).
- Office of the Prime Minister. 2019. Minister of National Revenue Mandate Letter.
- Ojo, Adegboyega, and Samuel Adebayo. 2017. "Blockchain as a next generation government information infrastructure: A review of initiatives in D5 countries." *Government 3.0– Next Generation Government Technology Infrastructure and Services*: 283-298.
- Ølnes, Svein, and Arild Jansen. 2017. "Blockchain technology as s support infrastructure in egovernment." International conference on electronic government.
- ---. 2018. "Blockchain technology as infrastructure in public sector: an analytical framework." Proceedings of the 19th Annual International Conference on Digital Government Research: Governance in the Data Age.
- Ølnes, Svein, Jolien Ubacht, and Marijn Janssen. 2017. Blockchain in government: Benefits and implications of distributed ledger technology for information sharing. Elsevier.
- Papińska-Kacperek, Joanna. 2006. "THE INFLUENCE OF ELECTRONIC FILING INCOME TAX RETURNS ON THE TAX ADMINISTRATION BOUNDARIES." *WITHIN AND BEYOND BOUNDARIES OF MANAGEMENT* (43): 299.
- Parviainen, Päivi, Maarit Tihinen, Jukka Kääriäinen, and Susanna Teppola. 2017. "Tackling the digitalization challenge: how to benefit from digitalization in practice." *International journal of information systems and project management* 5 (1): 63-77.
- Petit, Gillian, Lindsay M. Tedds, David Green, and Jonathan Rhys Kesselman. 2021a. "Policy Forum: Re-Envisioning the Canada Revenue Agency-From Tax Collector to Benefit Delivery Agent." *Canadian Tax Journal/Revue fiscale canadienne* 69 (1): 99-114.
- Petit, Gillian, Lindsay M. Tedds, David Green, and Jonathan Rhys Kesselman. 2021b. "Reenvisioning the Canada Revenue Agency: From Tax Collector to Benefit Delivery Agent." *Canadian Tax Journal* 69 (1): 99-114.

https://poseidon01.ssrn.com/delivery.php?ID=336017068111082126074069065113090 11202805300705303303906509208706411510012201310611204811011903505004003 00301120751010830660680070210470860020120981030651230231080700280801020 01019066093070086067071109104069114076105067064065072089007094023089008 122&EXT=pdf&INDEX=TRUE.

- Prosper Canada. 2018. Increasing Indigenous Benefit Take-Up In Canada: 2018 Federal Budget Submission.
- Rang, Adam. 2020. "Adam Rang: Estonia's e-residency works and the latest data prove it." *Estonian World*, April 28, 2020.
- Robles, Gregorio, Jonas Gamalielsson, and Björn Lundell. 2019. "Setting up government 3.0 solutions based on open source software: the case of X-road." International Conference on Electronic Government.
- Robson, Jennifer, and Saul Schwartz. 2020. "Who Doesn't File a Tax Return? A Portrait of Non-Filers." *Canadian Public Policy* 46 (3): 323-339.
- Sabbagh, Karim, Roman Friedrich, Bahjat El-Darwiche, Milind Singh, SANDEEP Ganediwalla, and RAUL Katz. 2012. "Maximizing the impact of digitization." *The global information*

technology report 2012: 121-133.

- Schmitz, Jana, and Giulia Leoni. 2019. "Accounting and auditing at the time of blockchain technology: a research agenda." *Australian Accounting Review* 29 (2): 331-342.
- Schou, Jannick, and Morten Hjelholt. 2018. "Digital citizenship and neoliberalization: governing digital citizens in Denmark." *Citizenship Studies* 22 (5): 507-522.
- Smallcombe, Mark 2020. "Structured vs Unstructured Data: 5 Key Differences." Data Processing. Xplenty. Last Modified June 25, 2020. Accessed May 27, 2021. <u>https://www.xplenty.com/blog/structured-vs-unstructured-data-key-differences/</u>.
- Smith, Philip, Alastair Bisson, and Ed Gowen. Feburary, 2015 2015. *eGovernment: Learning from Denmark and Estonia*. CBO Projects. <u>https://www.cboprojects.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/eGovernment-CBO-Insight-Paper-Learning-from-Denmark-and-Estonia.pdf</u>.
- Solutions, Nordic Institute for Interoperability. 2020. "X-Road." Nordic Institute for Interoperability Solutions. Accessed April 8, 2021. <u>https://x-road.global/</u>.
- Soontreeruntana, Wannida, Gerald Quirchmayr, Roland Traunmüller, and Suree Funilkul. 2006. "An Evaluation Framework for E-Taxation Services."
- Statistics Canada. June 31, 2021 2021a. Access to the Internet in Canada, 2020. Statistics Canada. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/210531/dq210531d-eng.pdf</u>.
- ---. 2021b. "Population and demography statistics." Government of Canada. Last Modified 2021-03-15. Accessed April 8, 2021. <u>https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/subjects-start/population_and_demography</u>.
- Tedds, Lindsay M. 2013a. "Why you don't want Ottawa to fill in your tax form." *The Globe and Mail* April 3, 2013.
- Tedds, Lindsay M. 2013b. "Why you don't want Ottawa to fill in your tax form." *The Globe and Mail*, April 3, 2013.
- TELUS. 2019. "Internet for Good: Home internet connectivity means digital equality for lowincome families." Connecting Canadians. Last Modified November 4, 2019. <u>https://www.telus.com/en/social-impact/blog/connectivity-means-digital-equality</u>.
- ---. 2020. Indigenous Connectivity Report. (British Columbia: Telus Corporation). <u>https://assets.ctfassets.net/rz9m1rynx8pv/26Pv3ZzgH6TFDUY6E0u61w/fc27f21bf1fbc9</u> <u>098932d20537e3d983/TELUS</u> IndigenousConnectivityReport_digital_final.pdf.
- ---. 2021a. "Mobility for Good." Connecting Canadians. Last Modified March 25, 2021. Accessed June, 2021. <u>https://www.telus.com/en/social-impact/blog/mobility-for-good-</u> <u>program?INTCMP=tcom_social-impact_connecting-canada_to_mobility-for-good-</u> <u>program</u>.
- ---. 2021b. "Tech for Good." Connecting Canadians. <u>https://www.telus.com/en/social-impact/connecting-canada/tech-for-good?INTCMP=tcom social connect ban t4g discover.</u>
- Townsend, Malcolm, Thanh Le Quoc, Gaurav Kapoor, Hao Hu, Wei Zhou, and Selwyn Piramuthu. 2018. "Real-Time business data acquisition: How frequent is frequent enough?" *Information & Management* 55 (4): 422-429.
- TurboTax. 2020. "Online Tax Software." Intuit. Accessed May 13, 2021. https://turbotax.intuit.ca/tax/software/personal/online.
- Ubaldi, Barbara, Felipe González-Zapata, and Mariane Piccinin Barbieri. 2020. "Digital Government Index: 2019 results."
- Urban, Michael C, and Danielle Pineda. 2018. Inside the Black Blocks: A Policymaker's Introduction to Blockchain, Distributed Ledger Technology and the "Internet of Value".

Mowat Centre for Policy Innovation.

- Vaillancourt, Francois. April 2010. *The Cost to Canadians of Complying with Personal Income Taxes.* Fraser Institute <u>https://www.fraserinstitute.org/sites/default/files/cost-of-</u> <u>complying-with-personal-income-taxes.pdf</u>.
- Vassil, Kristjan. 2016. "Estonian E-government ecosystem: foundation, applications, outcomes." Background paper for the World Development Report.
- Walters, Noah. 2019. "Privacy Law Issues in Blockchains: An Analysis of PIPEDA, the GDPR, and Proposals for Compliance."
- White, O, A Madgavkar, J Manyika, D Mahajan, J Bughin, M McCarthy, and O Sperling. 2019. Digital identification: a key to inclusive growth McKinsey Global Institute.